

Systems and structures: powers, duties and funding



Acknowledgements

We would like to express our thanks to NFER (National Foundation for Educational Research) for carrying out the scoping and bibliographic work on which this review was based.

Thanks are also due to:

- Profile Books for permission to include an extract from: State building: governance and world order in the 21st century by Francis Fukuyama (2005).
- The National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER) for permission to include material from *School funding: a review of existing models in European and OECD countries* by M. Atkinson et al. (2005).

The views and opinions expressed in this publication are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the views of CfBT Education Trust.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	How is power distributed?	2
3	Why the emphasis on decentralisation?	4
4	What governance structures have education systems chosen? How have they evolved? What issues have arisen? How well do they work?	7
5	How funding is linked to the allocation of responsibilities within the system	26
6	Why is it so important to get the allocation of funding right?	26
7	How much money is available?	27
8	How are resources allocated? How does this link to policy implementation?	32
9	What can be done to ensure resources are used effectively and properly? Audit, monitoring and evaluation of the impact of spending	39
10	What is the role of private schools? How do they relate to public (state) schools?	41
11	Conclusions	43
Anı	nex A: An analysis of decentralisation in Ghana	46
	nex B: An evaluation of community capacity to make informed cisions about school quality	47
An	nex C: Making a reality of school performance review in Ghana	48
An	nex D: Indicators for allocating funding	49
Re	ferences	51

1 Introduction

Why link governance, finance and private provision?

This Review looks at the way high-performing and improving education systems share out power and responsibility. Resources – in the form of funding, capital investment or payment of salaries and other ongoing costs – are some of the main levers used to make policy happen, but are not a substitute for well thought-through and appropriate policy making. Nonetheless, having control over resources can be critical to achieving policy implementation.

This Review also looks briefly at some models of private schooling, since they are used in many systems in conjunction with public education.

2 How is power distributed?

Structures

Responsibility is distributed through structures, to which the central government (usually represented by a ministry of education) chooses to give powers and duties. Depending on the size of the system and its context, structures are likely to include:

- a. a central ministry
- b. regional or provincial government
- c. municipal or district government
- d. schools, with school boards/councils and possibly a range of consultative bodies. The board/council generally includes representatives of teachers, parents, students (depending on the phase) and the community.¹ It may also include representatives of local government and employers.

The central ministry (and even regional government) may choose to establish specialist bodies to advise on aspects of policy development and implementation, such as assessment, the curriculum, pedagogy and quality assurance/inspection.

Powers and duties

Governments decide the extent to which they give powers and duties to the subordinate organisations – often called 'decentralisation'. Hanson² describes three approaches:

- a. deconcentration, where tasks, but not authority, are transferred away from the centre;
- b. delegation, where decision-making authority is transferred to organisations lower down the hierarchy. However, the superior organisation keeps the power to take back the authority;

c. devolution, where authority is transferred to a separate organisation that can act independently or act without asking permission.

Naidoo³ uses the same definitions of decentralisation, going on to provide a framework for unpicking precisely how decentralisation might be put into practice and evaluated, in terms of:

- a. the context, for example economic, political and social influences
- **b.** the rationale i.e. the reasons given for decentralisation
- **c.** the form and level of implementation i.e. the organisational structures and policies put in place to support decentralisation
- d. the stage reached and outcomes achieved. (See Annex A for an example.)

Decisions about the shape of organisational structures, as well as their powers and duties, need to take account of the culture, priorities and capabilities of the community.⁴ If decentralisation is implemented in carefully-managed stages, it will give time for the development of capabilities and change in attitudes of those administering the system, whether they are officials in central government or principals. It will also allow for the development of trust and skills by stakeholders.

Even where there is a long-established agreement about how education policy should be made and implemented, decentralisation does not mean that the state can abandon all its responsibilities for education. William Yat Wai Lo⁵ cites Fukuyama:⁶

'For individual societies and for the global community, the withering away of the state is not a prelude to utopia but to disaster... They do not need extensive states, but they do need strong and effective ones within the limited scope of necessary state functions...'

Therefore, alongside decentralisation, high-performing and improving systems generally put in place frameworks and processes which allow them to be sure of maintaining quality and equity. These may include:^{7,8}

- a. curriculum frameworks
- b. student performance standards and thresholds
- c. resource allocation requirements
- d. professional standards and requirements for the workforce
- **e.** operational requirements (for example staffing levels, equipment levels, admissions and disability policies)

- **f.** review, evaluation and quality assurance arrangements, including provision for intervention and support
- g. data collection arrangements
- h. accountability mechanisms and requirements.

Sometimes, where there has been a tradition of considerable institutional independence, as in the Netherlands,⁹ the municipal or central government's power may be increased to promote policy goals such as equity and quality.

High-performing and improving systems learn from international best practice and research. They do so more successfully where they themselves are in control of initiatives and can therefore take account of their own circumstances. They may contract with external experts to provide input to a very specific part of the system, decide to work in partnership on a project, or pilot new approaches before going to (system) scale with them.^a

3 Why the emphasis on decentralisation?

High-performing and improving education systems have chosen differing approaches to the process of allocating roles, responsibilities and authority. One of the most common features in terms of governance is a move towards decentralisation.

Decentralisation is rarely a one-off policy event. Many systems have made several changes to their structures and processes. This may be because they had planned to introduce decentralisation in stages, because of later developments, or changes elsewhere.

What are the reasons for the trend towards decentralisation?

The reasons often given are quality, efficiency, equity and responsiveness. Decentralisation may also be driven by contextual factors, such as history and politics, as well as economic, organisational or educational objectives. Sometimes the real reasons are not made explicit. They are, nonetheless, important and may include lack of capacity at the centre, the desire to limit the power of some interest groups, to cut costs, to manage pressure for greater devolution, or to reduce calls for increased transparency and democracy by giving limited power over a narrow range of activities.¹⁰

Towards the end of the 20th century,¹¹ there was increasing interest in management at school level, since this offered the possibility of achieving a direct impact on student outcomes. One result has been the growing importance given to developing and managing school leaders. Another has been increasing recognition of the role played by parents in supporting and motivating their children. School-based management has the

^a i.e. rolling out the policy at system level.

potential to give parents a chance to make their views known through school boards/councils as well as various consultative arrangements.

Ontario: improving student attainment and reducing costs

In countries such as Australia and Canada, there has been a long tradition of independence at provincial/state level. In Canada in general, and Ontario in particular, the drive to reduce costs and improve student attainment led to changes in the distribution of power towards the end of the 20th century. The election of Dalton McGuinty in 2003 led to distinctive, interlocking roles for the Ministry, districts and schools. All were linked by giving priority to limited aims: Literacy and Numeracy and Student Success. These priorities drew on international experience elsewhere (particularly the successful national Literacy and Numeracy Strategies in England). The unifying focus was on enabling teachers to do their job more effectively and on raising standards in terms of outcomes and experiences for students. Structures and processes were designed to make this happen:

- **a.** The Ministry was responsible for setting expectations and facilitating mechanisms such as funding, collective bargaining arrangements, support for improvement.
- **b.** Districts were responsible for promoting the emphasis on improvement, through school staffing and support arrangements.
- **c.** In schools, teachers were encouraged to work together to solve problems and improve teaching and learning. The role of the system was to 'support... the learning and change occurring in schools'.

The provincial government was able to maintain overall control, quality assurance and accountability through mechanisms which included a curriculum framework and the assessment arrangements. The system used a combination of 'consistent central pressure for higher results with extensive capacity building...'. This was again shaped by the pressure and support model used in England in the period 1997–2006.

At the same time, and also driven by the desire to use funds efficiently and share effective practice, the Canadian Council of Ministers of Education had chosen to collaborate in areas such as funding, the curriculum and assessment. This reflected a degree of centralisation alongside the decentralisation noted above. There has also been a movement across the system to give priority to putting resources into the classroom, rather than into administration.¹³

New Zealand: Giving responsibility to principals and communities

In New Zealand, while the aims of decentralisation were similar to Ontario's, the mechanisms were different. In addition to looking for improvements in efficiency, the Ministry put the focus on principals and on community involvement to drive improvement.

Starting in 1989, New Zealand devolved authority for staffing, their payment, negotiation of industrial agreements, and buildings to schools and their communities. Principals were given responsibility for governance, corporate planning, leadership and management.

Principals had to change the way they operated. Their changed role needed them to be able to work with their communities. Evaluations suggested that principals gained increased influence and respect, while communities showed they were able to take on the additional responsibilities.¹⁴ (Once again, there was a curriculum and quality assurance framework in place. Although, with increasing experience, schools were given greater flexibility to design their own curricula,^{15,16} the central government made rules about instruction time¹⁷ and introduced the National Standards for reading, writing and maths¹⁸ in 2010, when monitoring showed that 20% of students left school with poor literacy and numeracy skills.)

Embedding democracy: the Czech Republic, Ghana and Korea

In the former Communist countries of Eastern Europe, such as the Czech Republic, Slovenia and Poland, the shift of power to regional, municipal and school levels has been part of the move to a democratic society. In Poland¹⁹ the process of decentralisation was handled in a measured way. In the first instance, smaller steps were taken to introduce democratic and market values, including the removal of Communist ideology from textbooks, laying the groundwork for private schools and starting to transfer operational responsibilities to regional governments. More radical changes, including further decentralisation alongside the introduction of national quality assurance arrangements, formed part of the preparation for joining the European Union.

Similarly, in Ghana, decentralisation was introduced partly in order to improve responsiveness at district, community and school level. However, it was also a cost-reduction measure in the early stages (i.e. circa 1988) since communities, churches and district assemblies were expected to contribute funds.²⁰ In its Education Strategic Plan (ESP) for 2010–2020,²¹ the government saw further decentralisation as a way of improving effectiveness, while recognising that lack of local capacity to tackle operational problems (such as delays in paying salaries) was an additional management and financial burden in the first five years of the ESP.

Whereas Singapore gave schools greater autonomy (including independence in some cases) in order to give them the freedom to innovate and use resources more efficiently (as a route to improved student attainment), Korea put in place a requirement for school management committees as part of a process of democratisation.²²

Managed stakeholder input: Hong Kong, Indonesia and Tunisia

In some places, such as in Hong Kong,²³ there has been a shift of power from sponsoring bodies, many of which already had considerable independence,^b to schools where teachers had professional freedom within a system-prescribed framework of professional

^b Sponsoring bodies include the aided sector, which has the largest proportion of primary and secondary schools.

development, curriculum and assessment requirements. At the same time, stakeholders are directly involved in quality assurance of their schools as lay members of inspection teams, where they gather the views of parents, staff and students.²⁴

In both Indonesia and Tunisia, the World Bank supported and encouraged moves towards decentralisation. Indonesia's declared aims for decentralisation were ambitious, including the reduction in the role of central government, to improve planning of economic and social programmes (and hence support for those programmes), to strengthen national unity and to enhance people's capacity to manage their own affairs. The policy was implemented swiftly, possibly to counter pressure for further democracy, which limited the time available for planning and capacity building.²⁵

In the case of Tunisia, the World Bank's project appraisal document of 2000 proposed investment to support decentralisation and deconcentration to improve quality, efficiency and responsiveness. ²⁶ Subsequently, the National Report covering the period from 2004 to 2008 outlined progress in giving more autonomy to regions and schools, as well as establishing school councils. The focus of the councils and associated activities was 'dialogue' rather than decision-making.

4 What governance structures have education systems chosen? How have they evolved? What issues have arisen? How well do they work?

Designing governance structures

Potential benefits of decentralised governance

Among the potential advantages of decentralisation are:27,28

- a. the possibility of making sensible links with other services provided at local level
- **b.** the opportunity to match provision to local needs and priorities, as well as responding more quickly
- c. greater efficiency and effectiveness
- **d.** encouraging innovation and commitment because the authority and resources are within the control of the school or local authority
- **e.** generating pressure at local level for more investment in education.

Issues to consider in designing governance structures

A number of writers have warned that there is limited evidence of the effectiveness of decentralisation.^c In some circumstances, decentralisation may not be appropriate. In

Naidoo (2002) quotes Litvack et al. (1998), saying that the reasons for education decentralisation are based on assumptions reflecting a 'curious combination of strong preconceived beliefs and limited empirical evidence'.

deciding on whether to decentralise, on the extent of decentralisation and in planning implementation, there are potential risks and disadvantages to be considered:²⁹

- a. Cultural, economic and political circumstances:
 - the political climate; where there is limited experience of democracy, there is a possibility that powerful interest groups may exercise undue influence
 - a weak tradition of participation or hierarchical culture; at school level, parents may be poorly educated
 - external imposition of decentralisation (for example as a condition of funding)

b. human resources:

- lack of clarity about roles and responsibilities
- lack of capacity in terms of the knowledge and skills required at central, regional, local and institutional level
- unwillingness to surrender responsibility and authority, or to work collaboratively
- c. weak infrastructure, inadequate frameworks and standards
- **d.** the credibility of decentralisation will be damaged if organisations are unable to carry out basic tasks, such as paying salaries on time
- e. lack of IT for communications, data capture and transfer
- f. insufficient capacity to collect, analyse and use data for planning, evaluation and improvement
- g. inadequate benchmarks for inputs (for example taught time, curriculum frameworks) and outputs (for example performance standards) will make it difficult to monitor performance

h. financial:

- if decentralisation is not matched by reallocation of control over resources, stakeholders will not be able to carry out their new responsibilities
- differences in resources among schools and regions may become more marked, leading to greater inequality in access and outcomes (a geographical lottery)
- failure to bring together resources from diverse sources and use them according to a coherent plan

- i. probity and accountability:
 - that the reallocation of roles and responsibilities will be superficial with accountability still flowing upwards to central government
 - failure to demonstrate that power and resources are being used in line with policy –
 i.e. a lack of transparency and accountability.

High-performing and improving education systems differ widely in terms of scale; their history of access to education; the capabilities of their teaching and other education professionals. Some, such as Ontario (Canada), Victoria (Australia) and the Netherlands have adapted long-established structures. Others, such as Singapore, former Eastern European communist countries and Chile, have set out to build and progressively develop new structures reflecting their changing values and goals. The greatest challenges face systems – such as in Ghana and Indonesia – aiming to achieve free compulsory basic education for all alongside improvements in equity and quality of educational experiences.

The distribution of power and responsibility in well-established systems

Ontario, Canada

In Ontario,³⁰ authority, accountability and participation are aligned from the Ministry of Education, through the school boards to schools, including school councils.^d The Ministry of Education provides the policy and legislative framework through:

- a. setting standards and expectations for student achievement as well as for qualifications
- **b.** development and management of the province-wide curriculum (there are curriculum guidelines for all subjects)
- c. establishing principles about the learning environment (e.g. equitable, inclusive)
- d. supporting improvements in teaching
- **e.** making regulations governing the school year,^e the duties of teachers, principals and school board officers and the organisation of schools and school boards.

Accountability arrangements are run at provincial level. The Education Quality and Accountability Office was set up in 1996. It collects information on educational assessment and quality (including testing students' academic achievement) and reports to the Minister and the public.³¹

Education policy is made and implemented at provincial level. In Ontario, for instance, there are two publicly-funded systems of education: the public school system and

d School councils have an advisory role. Their task is to make the system more accountable to parents and to improve student achievement.

^e There are standards for teaching time.

the separate Catholic school system. Ontario sets objectives and guidelines for them through legislation (for example through General Legislative Grants Regulations which set provincial grant arrangements for education funding).³²

There are 5,000 schools in Ontario, managed by 72 school boards comprising: 31 English, 29 English Catholic; eight French Catholic and four French public school boards.³³ Boards decide how education programmes and services are to be provided and the resources they require to meet their responsibilities.

Both public and Catholic school boards have the authority to develop and implement local policies within the provincial framework, including:

- a. an overall vision statement
- **b.** a strategic planf
- c. setting budgets
- d. implementing curricula
- e. appointing teaching staff
- f. maintaining school buildings
- g. monitoring and holding schools to account for meeting provincial and board standards.

School board trustees are elected. Boards must also encourage parental involvement through a parent involvement committee.

School boards are expected to build consultation arrangements into their strategic planning, organisational structures and other processes (including arrangements for monitoring and evaluating policy implementation) and to ensure good communication and transparency.

As the political and economic context has changed, so school boards' roles have changed too. In the search for efficiency savings alongside school improvement, the end of the 20th century saw the merger of school boards alongside a drive to change classroom practices. While supervisory officers continued (and still continue) to have responsibilities for ensuring their schools operate within the provincial and board policy frameworks, the nature of their role evolved.³⁴

Instead of having a hierarchical relationship with schools, with an emphasis on operational issues, supervisory officers took the lead in encouraging professional development, progressively sharing leadership with principals in schools. Supervisory officers demonstrated and led change through collaborative working, as well as observation

^f Boards now have a multi-year (i.e. three-year) plan that is reviewed annually.

(rather than inspection) of teaching and the sharing of knowledge across schools. Similarly, families of schools⁹ changed their emphasis from administration to professional development. Supervisory officers relied for credibility and effectiveness on their detailed knowledge of the schools for which they were responsible:

- a. First they worked together to develop a common vision for the new, amalgamated school boards. Supervisory officers ensured cross-board consistency through a Supervisory Council.
- **b.** Then they worked with their schools to match schools' goals with those of the school board district. The focus was on improving student learning, which was an effective way to unite supervisory and teaching staff.
- **c.** Then they worked together to use the vision as a basis for school planning, again with the focus on student learning, to change actual teaching in the classroom.
- d. They designed programmes of professional development where supervisory officers shared responsibility for leading workshops on aspects of school improvement. The workshops were also adapted (in consultation with professional development committees for families of schools) and presented to principals. Principals then went on to use this model within their own schools.

This process laid the groundwork for further evolution when McGuinty came to power in 2003. In the period from 2003 to 2010, McGuinty's government set out to achieve improvements in student performance by focusing on two policies: Literacy and Numeracy, and Student Success strategies. This enabled them to achieve change at provincial, school board and school level because stakeholders were able to share a commitment to improving student outcomes. Although the broad allocation of responsibilities did not change significantly, school boards' supervisory officers increased their focus on supporting the work of teachers, from school planning to teaching and learning. They used their meetings of families of schools for professional development rather than administration. Knowing their schools well, they were able to adapt their practices to particular contexts. To support this, the Institute for Education Leadership, funded by the Ministry of Education, offered leadership development strategies for supervisory officers, school board members and headteachers. 35, 36

Australia and Victoria

While Australia, too, comprises states and territories, there is a federal department responsible for education – the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations. It sets the context for the states through, for example, its Strategic Plan.³⁷ The federal government defines policy frameworks, such as those for the curriculum and assessment (through the specialist Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority).

g i.e. clusters or groups of schools.

Within this framework, the states (such as Victoria) develop and implement their own policies for education, early childhood development and children's services. Victoria is also responsible for school improvement in both primary and secondary education. The state has established statutory bodies to provide advice and carry out specific activities including:³⁸

- **a.** development and delivery of curriculum and assessment programmes and linked reporting arrangements (the Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority)
- b. regulation and promotion of the teaching profession (the Victorian Institute of Teaching)
- **c.** regulation of education and training providers and qualifications in Victoria (the Victorian Registration and Qualifications Authority).

However, rather than school boards overseeing schools across a district, the emphasis is on individual institutions' governing bodies.³⁹ School governing bodies have been long established (mandatory since 1976) in Victoria:

- a. There has been a step-by-step increase in the nature and levels of their responsibilities. At first, they had the power to advise on general policy, decisions about expenditure and help with teachers' accommodation as well as general oversight of buildings.
- b. Subsequently (in 1993), as part of the Schools of the Future policy, which established frameworks for the curriculum and standards, as well as three-yearly evaluations of schools, boards became responsible for the development of their charters, for decisions about 90% of school budgets and for selection of staff. They had to produce annual reports to explain how they had fulfilled their responsibilities.
- **c.** Their powers were extended further in 2006, where more strategic responsibilities were balanced by even greater powers to take actions required to realise their objectives, including entering into contracts and establishing trusts.

In Victoria, principals have extended scope for participation beyond membership of the main board, by establishing sub-committees. These sub-committees are able to research, consult and make recommendations for board approval in areas such as finance, the curriculum, student discipline and fund-raising.

As in Ontario, the evolution of power and responsibility, particularly at school level, has required a considerable change in the attitudes and expertise of both principals and administrators. Administrators have had to change their relationships with schools. Headteachers have had to learn to work collaboratively and make links with the community in order to bring stakeholders in to contribute to sub-committees.

The Netherlands

In the Netherlands,⁴⁰ central government, through the Ministry of Education, Culture and Science, creates the 'right conditions' for schools, establishing frameworks governing areas including examinations, salaries, buildings, capital investment and the national curriculum. A specialist Education Council advises the national government on education policy and the application of legislation, as well as providing guidance to municipal authorities.⁴¹

The twelve provinces have a limited role, ⁴² including ensuring there are sufficient schools. Municipal authorities are the local authority for all publicly and privately run schools. Their powers and duties include the annual plans and funding for new schools, the budget relating to educational disadvantage and monitoring compliance with the Compulsory Education Act.

All schools⁴³ have a legally recognised 'competent authority' – the school board, which manages and administers one or more schools. The powers and duties of competent authorities include:

- a. establishing the school
- b. choosing teaching materials
- c. choosing optional subjects
- d. determining the timetable
- e. the appointment and dismissal of headteachers and other staff
- f. personnel policy
- g. admissions/exclusions
- h. management of the school's financial resources.

The day-to-day management is the responsibility of the headteacher. The headteacher helps the competent authority with policy-making.

The competent authority for public primary and secondary schools may be the municipal authority, although it may delegate its responsibilities (for example to a governing committee or foundation). The competent authority for a private school is often a foundation. Members of a competent authority usually include parents as well as representatives of the local community with relevant expertise.⁴⁴

Stakeholder participation in school governance is long-standing. The 1992 Education Participation Act required schools to establish Participation Councils comprising equal

numbers of elected staff, parent and student representatives. The remit of Participation Councils evolved further in 2007, when legislation required competent authorities to obtain the agreement of their participation council to decisions about a school's aims, curriculum, special needs policy, etc.

Following a study comparing the performance of students in public and private schools, Hofman et al.⁴⁵ found higher levels of achievement in Catholic schools, even though prior attainment and SES levels tended to be lower. While not denying the importance of classroom factors, such as the quality of teaching, they concluded that in private schools, the boards tended to comprise mainly parents and volunteers as opposed to representatives of the local authority. As a result, there was more discussion between parents and staff, leading to a greater shared understanding of educational aims. This is consistent with the three factors identified in good schools and associated with school-based management: a positive education climate, effective school-based management and parents' involvement in the education of their children.

Building and developing systems to match evolving political aspirations

Singapore

Whereas the Netherlands' governance arrangements are the result of an evolution of a long-established system, in Singapore the process has been carefully managed over a period of half a century since independence. The process:

- a. took account of political, economic and cultural contexts
- **b.** recognised the capabilities of personnel (and development needs)
- **c.** had a steady implementation timetable (i.e. did not rush change) which took account of external factors
- **d.** had close links with other policies (such as principal development, curriculum development and quality assurance).

Singapore's relatively small size means that the lines of communication between central government and schools are short and direct. The government makes and implements policy, including the development and administration of government and government-aided primary and secondary schools and junior colleges.⁴⁶

There has been a step-by-step move towards giving greater autonomy to schools. The Ministry of Education⁴⁷ has explicitly linked national economic development (including responding to external market forces) with changes in school governance. This has meant that as teachers' skills and student attainment have increased, Singapore has given greater freedom to schools, encouraging innovation and sharing of expertise.⁴⁸ As outlined in the paper for the SEAMEO conference, the process has been carefully staged:⁴⁹

- a. In the two decades following attainment of independence in 1959, the emphasis was on building a cohesive nation and ensuring economic competitiveness. This was achieved through centralised control over all aspects of school governance, including curricula and day-to-day operations.
- b. In the 1980s, the Ministry of Education introduced different types of schools, so offering more choice. The Ministry itself was reorganised to support the change, including changing the inspectors' role from monitoring compliance to supporting planning and improvements in quality. A specialist Curriculum Development Institute of Singapore was created to support curriculum delivery in schools. From 1983, schools were given more freedom through the establishment of School Executive Committees (comprising senior members of the leadership team) which carried out school planning, self-evaluation and management of budgets and staff. External quality assurance was achieved through external evaluation by the MoE's inspectors every four-five years. A few particularly strongly-performing schools were given independence. They were required to set up Boards of Governors who had strategic responsibility for matters such as staffing (including the appointment of the principal), fees, admissions and the curriculum. In practice, the responsibilities tended to be delegated to principals who also managed staff performance and carried out strategic planning.
- **c.** In the 1990s, the government introduced the *Thinking Schools, Learning Nation* (1997) policy designed to respond to the need to build a knowledge-based economy as well as a greater sense of social cohesion and service to the community:
 - There was a gradual increase in decentralisation, with 'outstanding' schools given autonomous status from 1992. This enabled them to establish specialisms, to take on responsibility for some staff appointments and student admissions, and to undertake innovative curriculum development.
 - Additional independent schools were also created.^h
 - To help them develop and improve, schools were grouped into 'clusters' so the Ministry of Education could organise support for them. Superintendents at cluster level were responsible for mentoring principals in their extended role. Schools themselves were identified as Centres of Excellence, taking on responsibility for the dissemination of good practice, professional development and taking the lead in enriching student learning in their areas of expertise.
- d. School evaluation was further developed into the School Excellence Model, which looked not just at outputs, but also processes. It was designed to encourage principals to think about how they could take action to improve their schools themselves, rather than being administrators following Ministry requirements.

^h Totalling seven independent and 18 autonomous schools by the end of the 1990s.

More recently, there has been an emphasis on inclusion and the recognition of the economic and social benefits of developing a diverse range of talents among school students (as well as through lifelong learning). The focus is increasingly on giving freedom to schools so that they can innovate, develop and disseminate expertise. Independent school numbers have increased to nine and autonomous schools to 26. The focus of responsibility appears to have shifted to principals, rather than bodies representing stakeholders. The Ministry describes its role as:

- a. giving 'top-down support for ground-up initiatives' i.e. as a facilitator, whether of development for principals, so they can fulfil the demands of their expanded role, or providing funding to adapt schools so they can provide new educational programmes
- b. ensuring parents understand the new, wider definition of education success, and take account of it when they are looking at the performance of their own children and thinking about the help and support they might need.

This is all within a framework of legislation and quality assurance at central level.

Former Communist systems: the Czech Republic, Poland and Slovenia: democratisation and quality

Before the fall of Communism, these systems had achieved universal basic education. However, students' opportunities were constrained by political considerations and the requirements of centrally-planned economies.

The policy and administrative structures established afterwards were designed to:

- a. widen access to educational opportunity, irrespective of political views
- b. improve the quality of education and, therefore, countries' economic competitiveness.

In common with other high-performing and improving systems, the distribution of powers and duties is carefully set out, with different levels of the system required to carry out interlocking functions. Specialist bodies have been created to provide professional advice.

In parallel, policy-makers have:

- a. created frameworks for the curriculum, monitoring and quality assurance
- b. re-defined the roles of headteachers.

Systems have been refined in the light of experience and developing capacity. In some cases, numbers of administrative bodies have been reduced; in others, the responsibilities of particular roles have been changed to reflect an increased emphasis on educational improvement.

These systems have drawn selectively and discriminatingly on external funding and support.

In the **Czech Republic**,⁵⁰ the Ministry is responsible for policy development. It also decides teachers' responsibilities, and qualifications, and the requirements for professional development and career progression, as well as requiring open competition for specified posts. The Ministry has established institutions to carry out specialist functions, including the Research Institute of Education which designs the framework educational programmes (i.e. curricula) for pre-primary to upper secondary schools, prepares teaching materials and provides guidance; and the Centre for Evaluation of Educational Achievement which prepares evaluation instruments for the *maturitni zkouska*. By maintaining a register of schools, the Ministry keeps open the option of regulating provision since schools wanting public funding must obtain government registration.

Within this framework, there is now a well-established board structure⁵¹ at school level. Board members comprise representatives of parents, the community, employer organisations, staff and secondary school students. Their powers include approval of the annual report of the school and the duty to give their views on educational outcomes, teaching, curriculum, finance, work plans, staffing and student numbers.

In **Poland**,⁵² distinctive responsibilities were allocated to central, regional, district, commune and school levels. Poland also established a series of frameworks, including a core curriculum with national standards and accountability arrangements including external examinations^k at the end of primary, lower secondary and upper secondary school.

The Polish Ministry of National Education decided to set up a framework of national monitoring arrangements. After considerable planning, the Ministry used funding from the EU to buy expertise from a range of sources, including Brunel University and the Scottish Council for Education Research.⁵³ The focus was on identifying features specific to the Polish system that would affect national implementation and to build internal capacity.

The balance of powers and duties aims to ensure equity and quality. Responsibility for policy-making is held by the Minister of National Education.⁵⁴ The Minister implements policy largely through legislation which sets the framework requirements for the system including the curriculum and assessment; duration and structure of tuition; procedures for the appointment of *kurators*¹ (as well as how they will exercise their role), headteachers and other senior staff; standards for pre-service teacher training and in-service teacher training institutions, and salaries for teachers/examiners.

¹ High school leaving examination.

The Ministry directed schools to set up boards in 1993.

In the limitary directed schools to set up boards in 1999.

Kindle Implemented from 2002 and run by the Central Examination Commission and the eight regional examination commissions established in 1999.

(Organisation of education system in Poland: 2009/10)

Kurator oswiaty – chief education officer/schools superintendent. http://www.proz.com/kudoz/polish_to_english/human_resources/1113767-kurator_oswiaty.html

At regional level,⁵⁵ the head of the region is a representative of the national Council of Ministers. The *Kuratorium oswiaty* (Educational Superintendent's Office) is part of the regional administration. The *kurator oswiaty*, nominated by the head of the region, is responsible for 'pedagogical supervision' of educational institutions. Following legislation in 2009, this role was changed to put more emphasis on the quality of education in schools, compliance with legislation and support for school improvement.^m This is a deconcentration of power rather than decentralisation. However, important professional judgements are made at this level, including actual pedagogical supervision, implementation of state policy (for example re-examinations), cooperation with lower-level territorial units in the implementation of local education policy within the state framework and operation of higher-level institutions. In 1999, the number of regions was reduced from 49 to 16.

While the region does carry out some operational tasks – having responsibility for teacher training and in-service training centres, pedagogical libraries and schools of regional or national importance – operational responsibility for running senior schools for students aged 16-19 is devolved to districts (*powiat*) and for pre-primary, primary and lower secondary schools (for students aged 3-16) to communes (*gmina*). At school level, ⁵⁶ the headteachers work within the national and regional frameworks, with considerable freedom. However they do so in collaboration with pedagogical councils, school councils and parents' councils.

Slovenia adopted a similar approach, though with fewer levels. ⁵⁷ Slovenia's governance operates at three levels: national, regional/local and institutional. The Ministry of Education and Sport is responsible for policy and legislation, supported by advice provided by expert bodies including the National Institute for General Education, the National Institution for Vocational Education and Training, and the National Centre for Adult Education. In addition to advice to support policy-making, these bodies develop curricula for state approval and help in evaluating schools and the development of national exams, as well as giving expert advice to teachers.

Within the national framework which sets the structures and financial arrangements, self-governing municipalities administer public pre-school institutions and basic schools. At school level, the headteacher is the professional leader. The school councils, comprising teachers, parents and representatives of the municipality, determine whether to adopt the annual work and financial plans, as well as dealing with the appointment of the headteacher, disciplinary and behavioural issues.

The evolution of governance arrangements: moving from free compulsory universal basic education (FCUBE) to quality

Systems aiming to complete the provision of free compulsory universal basic education and increase the emphasis on quality often start with a highly-centralised system with limited professional capacity on the part of officials and headteachers. Parents tend to

^m For an example of an explanation of the policy see: http://eng.kuratorium.szczecin.pl/index.php/polish-educational-system/the-pedagogic-supervision (Downloaded 24/10/11).

be poorly educated, with limited experience of exercising choice (for example in terms of their children's school) or participation in decision-making (for example as a member of a school board/council). Their choices may also be reduced by poverty and isolation.

Chile

In Chile,⁵⁸ the original aim of the military regime of Pinochet (1973-1990) was to reduce the role of central government and use market forces⁵⁹ to improve education. There were three aspects to the change:⁶⁰

- a. decentralisation of the responsibility for schools to municipal level
- **b.** school funding via vouchers issued to students who had registered and been to school in the previous month
- **c.** information to parents about the performance of schools designed to improve competition and quality. (The intention was that access to information on student performance via the SIMCE testing systemⁿ would inform parents' decisions.)

SIMCE was also intended to give headteachers (and teachers) the information to benchmark their schools' performance and design programmes of improvement; for education authorities and national government to design policies and programmes to address identified weaknesses.⁶¹

The strategy had some significant weaknesses:

- a. It did not take account of the capacities of headteachers and municipal administrators.
- b. While the accountability framework was in place, it was insufficiently fine-grained to do all that was asked of it; the reports produced were not right for the audiences. Headteachers lacked the professional skills (such as classroom observation) to follow up identification of weaknesses via SIMCE with work to improve teaching and learning.

After the move to democracy, rather than reverse the decentralisation implemented by the military regime, the Ministry of Education has gradually put in place additional, complementary measures, including national frameworks⁶² and standards,^p more transparent recruitment processes,^q programmes focusing on disadvantaged students, professional support and quality assurance.^{r, 63}

ⁿ Education Quality Measurement System: assessments taken by students in 4th and 8th grade and 2nd secondary year. (*Improving school leadership: background report for Chile*: http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/13/11/39052630.pdf)

^o Ranging from diagnosis of weaknesses in practice by teachers to the design of national programmes by policy-makers or selection of schools by parents (Taut et al., (2009) Evaluating school and parent reports of the national student achievement testing system (SIMCE) in Chile: access, comprehension, and use.)

^p The Good School Leadership Framework, to encourage municipal administrators and headteachers to understand the shift in the role of headteachers from administration to professional leadership; The Good Teaching Framework.

 $[\]ensuremath{^{\text{q}}}$ Including competitions for the appointment of headteachers.

 $[\]sp{r}$ Including establishing a 'superintendency' i.e. inspectorate.

Tunisia

Having established access to education, the government switched its emphasis to achieving improvements in quality and efficiency. It requested a loan from the World Bank to fund the development of management systems and processes to enable it to deconcentrate some functions and decentralise others.⁶⁴

The Ministry of Education retained considerable central control including over:

- a. policy, opening and closing primary schools (working with provincial and regional administration), setting standards (for example for infrastructure, inputs), resource allocation, selection of primary and secondary school directors, recruitment of teachers, management of teacher training, definition of textbook and curriculum content, setting standards and management of examinations
- **b.** quality, by setting up benchmarking and monitoring arrangements, including:
 - participation in TIMSS (alongside Jordan and Lebanon) and PISAs
 - establishing a national assessment system for students in 4th, 6th, 8th and 10th grades
 - IT systems to enable information to be transferred between the centre and the regions in order to be able to monitor schools and take action, where necessary.

Alongside this, 'experiments'65 in decentralisation included:

- a. increased independence for Regional Directors who were promoted to Directors
 General in March 2007 with responsibilities that included supervision of school results
- **b.** in April 2006, creation of consultative councils in educational and vocational training at district level to examine/coordinate direction of district regional projects
- c. establishment of school councils in October 2004
- **d.** opportunities for headteachers to work with education service providers to develop school plans ('a school project') which took account of their school's context
- **e.** structures for improved communication such as teachers' pedagogic councils and school boards.

Managing participation is particularly difficult where democracy is (or has been) limited. As yet, it is not possible to determine the extent to which existing structures will be adapted by the government that followed the departure of Ben Ali.

Where, though students scored below average, their performance compared favourably with that of students in other states in the region: http://www.economist.com/node/21534782 1/11/11. http://mideast.foreignpolicy.com/posts/2011/10/31/will_the_arab_spring_lead_to_a_revolution_in_education 1/11/11

Ghana

In Ghana, decentralised structures have been in place for a long time. Decentralisation started in 1988, with a programme⁶⁶ to 'strengthen' the 110 district education offices to promote community involvement, more efficient use of resources and cut costs.

Further decentralisation in 2002 was described as 'deconcentration' to regions and districts. The Ministry continued to make policy, which the regions, led by directors, were responsible for implementing. District education offices, led by assistant directors, reported to the regional offices. They were responsible for supervising schools, as well as data collection and analysis.

The policy:

- a. increased local interest and participation
- **b.** generated some contributions to school budgets by communities and district assemblies, though there was no guarantee of this
- c. increased rural access to central government resources and institutions.

The 2008 Education Act⁶⁷ retained the Ministry of Education's (MoE) role in policy-making, coordination and monitoring standards. This was potentially strengthened by provisions in the Act enabling the Ministry to establish external quality assurance agencies: the National Inspectorate Board, the National Teaching Council and the National Council for Curriculum and Assessment. In common with high-performing systems, these had the potential to help with management of a system where more power was given to districts and parents.

Ghana's Education Strategic Plan 2010-2020 aimed to build on progress to date to use 'accountable decentralisation' to improve the effectiveness of education, including the school report card, decentralised planning (and linked financial management), community participation and strengthened capacity at institutional level (and regional/district levels):

- **a.** The MoE would retain responsibility for the overall budget, monitoring, evaluation, reporting, internal audit, strategic planning and policy development.
- **b.** Decision-making was to be delegated to district assemblies.
- **c.** Community oversight and accountability would be achieved through School Management Committees (SMCs) and Boards of Governors (BoGs) (for basic and second cycle schools respectively).

^t Drawing together data from the existing Education Management Information System as well as examination outcomes, etc.

Material downloaded from the Ghanaian government's official portal on 21/10/11 reported that the 110 district assemblies are responsible for building, equipping and maintaining schools in their areas. All district assemblies have a District Education Fund for this. With the approval of District Assemblies, communities can impose special levies to raise funds. Community structures include the District Education Planning Team, the District Education Oversight committee, the School Management Committee and Parent Teacher Association.

d. Schools would be responsible for developing School Performance Improvement Programmes, using funds from district capitation grants. SMCs/BoGs would oversee and be accountable for these activities and use of related resources.

The 2010-2020 Education Strategic Plan* identified strengths and weaknesses in existing arrangements, as well as risks from further decentralisation. It went on to lay out a phased implementation timetable, with the first phase running from 2010 to 2013 and comprising legislation, capacity-building and a hybrid of school autonomy, devolution and deconcentration. The roadmap of activities included:

- **a.** capacity building at district level (for example in budgeting, procurement, resource management, data collection)
- **b.** capacity building at GES-HQ and regional levels (for example in facilitation, monitoring and evaluation, research and development; compare with Ontario)
- c. the design of new funding arrangements at district and school levels
- d. the establishment of a budget for the transition to decentralisation, taking account of support costs, establishing district and regional communications systems and the expansion of the districts.

Through the Decentralisation Secretariat, the MoE would have responsibility for planning and implementation of decentralisation.

The MoE/GES Education Sector Review Committee was established specifically to address lack of management capacity, bearing in mind decentralisation. Its terms of reference include not only potential changes to policies, but also analysis of subsystems and linkages (compare with Ontario), and improvements to community/school partnerships. Its overall focus was to be driven by a concern for educational outcomes.

Indonesia

In Indonesia, ⁶⁸ Law 22 of 1999 which came into force January 2001 was the legal basis for decentralisation of authority from central government to district and municipal governments:

- **a.** The national government's responsibilities were: setting national policies and standards, supervision and guidelines, with the Ministry of National Education (MoNE) responsible for the planning and execution of education policy.
- b. The Curriculum Development Centre, reporting to MoNE, was responsible for policies on curriculum development, guidance, programme structures and course outlines, teaching and learning models (i.e. pedagogy), learning materials and advice on government policy.

^v Dated November 2009.

- **c.** MoNE is represented by a Provincial Office of Education in each of the 27 provinces and a District Office in each of 305 districts. They are responsible for implementing policies aligned to local culture and needs.
- **d.** In 2002, local communities were required to form education boards at city level and committees at school level.
- **e.** In parallel, the Ministry of Religious Affairs is responsible for Islamic primary and junior secondary schools.

This represented a striking change because Indonesia's policy-making and administration had been very centralised. The speed of implementation in a large and complex system led to some difficulties:

- a. Neither legislation, nor subsequent documentation had set out new roles and responsibilities, especially at school level. In school committees, for instance, it was unclear who should make decisions about allocation and monitoring of block grants.
- b. There was a lack of capacity at local and school level. Decentralisation added to the demands on districts and schools, but gave them little incentive to change the way they operated.
- c. The culture was traditionally hierarchical with limited opportunities for participation in decision-making. Headteachers and local officials were used to accountability travelling up the line via district offices to the Ministry. Members of the new school committees tended to lack experience and to be less well-educated than the school staff.
- **d.** While richer parents were able to benefit from increased choice and the opportunity to use their increased influence, the same was not true of poorer parents
- e. There were concerns about transparency and corruption.

Some writers⁶⁹ considered decentralisation in Indonesia to be a mistake, given the country's circumstances, and based on 'fashion [rather] than solid arguments'. However, with decentralisation mandated, alongside School-Based Management,* evaluations⁷⁰ showed lessons to be learned. These covered both the detail of implementation and the need for supporting frameworks.

A pilot project reported by the World Bank⁷¹ in 2011 explored how school committees could be empowered to take on their new responsibilities so that schools became accountable to their communities. Its findings focused on practical measures:

a. democratic elections, ensuring under-represented groups were represented on school committees

 $[\]ensuremath{^{\text{w}}}$ I.e. deconcentration rather than delegation.

^{*} Introduced alongside decentralisation with the establishment of school committees in 2002.

- **b.** training and manuals revised by local experts to make them accessible to non-professionals, with staff and committee members trained together
- **c.** clarification of roles, particularly in relation to the committees' power to make decisions and monitor the use of block grants
- **d.** enabling school committees to meet each other so they could discuss shared difficulties and good practice
- **e.** transfer of block grants at the start of a funding cycle so committees could plan with certainty
- f. encouraging innovation by giving outstanding school committees additional funds to carry out school development, with district officers responsible for disseminating outcomes.

Changing roles and building capacity at school level

One of the most difficult challenges is making the link between powers, duties and resources in order to promote school improvement.

If decentralisation is to take real account of the wishes of stakeholders, particularly parents and communities, the mechanisms available to them to make their views known have to be appropriately structured (for example in terms of location, timing and management). If stakeholders are to make sound judgements about the quality and relevance of education on offer, or to propose changes, they also need to understand what good quality education looks like and have to get hold of reliable information (which needs to be easy to obtain and understand.) It is particularly important that disadvantaged communities should be able to obtain and use this information.

The OECD⁷² considered that the school board^y was potentially a powerful driver of school improvement, because it strengthens the links between the school and the community. In order to be effective, board members will require clear roles and responsibilities and the right level of authority to carry them out. These roles and responsibilities need to be designed so they tie in with the roles and responsibilities of other organisations further up the educational hierarchy as well as fitting in with the day-to-day professional role of the principal.² It has been suggested that board members can be most useful concentrating on tasks directly related to strategic elements of school governance including monitoring and review (particularly of areas such as student achievement), planning and budgeting. They need to be able to communicate and work with outside groups and government.

While ideally board/council members should have a range of skills and reflect the diversity of the community, training and support can be used to widen participation and build capacity. While training must be tailored to participants' needs, it should include school governance (including school evaluation and improvement).

 $^{^{\}mathrm{y}}$ i.e. the institution-level body, which may be called the school council, governing body, sponsoring body, etc.

² Given the need to be able to work in partnership with the principal, the board should take part in the appointment and review process.

Even in countries with highly-qualified education professionals and experienced policy-makers and administrators, the delegation of responsibilities to local and school level can be challenging, requiring a gradual approach to implementation and a reversal of roles as schools are encouraged to take on professional leadership. It also requires that national and regional/local administrators change their relationship with schools and develop new capabilities:

Reallocation of responsibilities and changing roles is even more challenging:

- a. when the initial decentralisation happens quickly
- **b.** where there is no tradition of participation and democracy
- **c.** if professional staff in local offices and schools are quite poorly qualified with inappropriate skills.

Often it involves learning lessons from the initial roll-out, adjusting the policy and putting in place supportive or compensatory policies.

In Ghana, decentralisation required that districts and schools were able to evaluate performance and make decisions about resources in ways appropriate to their roles. Research had identified a need for specific types of training for headteachers as well as stakeholders (see Annex B). The Ghana Education Service and Link Community Development (LCD) worked on a project in four districts in the Upper East and Ashanti regions to make a reality of School Performance Review. at It involved intensive training; collection of a range of quantitative and qualitative data, bb a cycle of review which built progressively from school to district level, and communication tailored to different audiences. (See Annex C for further details.) (The challenges of effective communication with parents were not limited to Ghana. Evaluation of parents' understanding of national assessments in Chile showed the format in which they were presented to them was inaccessible to many. To

Decentralisation under ESP looked ahead to devolution of the management of basic and second cycle of education to district assemblies.

^{aa} School Performance Review uses data to audit schools to inform planning. It is supposed to increase parents' understanding of school performance so they will push for improvements, as well as informing stakeholders at community and district levels. It is a key mechanism for ensuring accountability at school and district level.

bb While schools were given reports showing areas for improvement, parents were given the information in tabular form (represented by a thermometer) since it was a more accessible format.

5 How funding is linked to the allocation of responsibilities within the system

Organisations are only able to fulfil their responsibilities if they are given matching control over funding – and they know how much funding they will have in time to plan effectively.

Aside from public funding, national, local and institutional resources may be supplemented in a number of ways: through the provision of alternatives to publicly-funded schools; through grants and loans from international bodies and charities; and through contributions from communities and parents.

6 Why is it so important to get the allocation of funding right?

High-performing and improving education systems aim to make good quality education available to all, not just on the grounds of equity, but also to ensure all students are equipped to contribute to the economic well-being of the society in which they live.

The OECD⁷⁴ has reported that socio-economic disadvantage has a strong effect on student performance. Some countries, including Finland, Canada, Japan and Hong Kong, have students who have achieved high levels of performance in PISA, irrespective of their socio-economic status. Other countries, including New Zealand and the Czech Republic, have achieved high scores, but there is a strong link between students' socio-economic status and their academic performance and a wide equity gap. This suggests there is scope for further improvements in test scores if the impact of socio-economic status can be reduced. The OECD argues that funding policy can be used to counteract the effects of disadvantage. However, decisions about the policies need to take account of the relationship between student under-performance and disadvantage:

- a. Where the link between social disadvantage and academic performance is weak, then policies targeted only at disadvantaged students might have less impact on quality and outcomes (e.g. Korea).
- **b.** In some systems outcomes are poor overall pointing to a need to improve overall quality (e.g. Indonesia, Tunisia).
- c. In systems where there is a close relationship between socio-economic status (SES) and outcomes, and there is a marked gap in student outcomes between those of high and low SES, targeting resources at disadvantaged groups is likely to prove a good investment (e.g. Slovak Republic, New Zealand).

In discussing why Canada appeared to have successful education systems, the OECD identified, 75 that even at a time when costs were being cut, measures were put in place to improve quality conditions and funding policy was designed to ensure poorer districts had access

^{cc} Such as the development of curricula by the provinces and selection of high-performing individuals to become teachers.

to the same resources as their richer neighbours. In addition, specific programmes were funded to address potential disadvantage. For instance, funding for immigrant students was equal to or exceeded that for native-born students.

Indonesia displayed a slightly more mixed picture.⁷⁶ While an initiative to provide scholarships for poorer families from 2005 reduced student drop-out, individual school districts with poorer populations had a smaller [tax] base from which to pay for education. In order for their students not to be disadvantaged, resources available would need to be increased in real terms.

7 How much money is available?

While the median percentage of GDP spent on education in 2008 in the high-performing and improving countries selected (see Table 1, page 29) was circa 5.7%, dd some countries, such as Chile and Korea, spent a considerably larger percentage and others, such as the Czech Republic and Indonesia, spent much less.

The percentages of GDP spent can give some indication of the priority that countries give to education. (In the case of OECD figures, this reflects 'choices made by governments, enterprises, and individual students and their families.' Similarly, the relative proportion of public expenditure on education as compared to other services reflects the importance governments attach to it. However, this does not fully expose the reality of individual systems' circumstances, including the existing foundation of skills and infrastructure or the size of the population relative to the funds available. The GDP ranges widely from $\mathfrak{L}1.4$ tnee in Canada to $\mathfrak{L}16$ bn in Ghana, with respective GDPs per capita of $\mathfrak{L}45,073$ and $\mathfrak{L}692$ in 2008.

In addition, countries have to deal with widely differing scales of challenge. Whereas it was anticipated that Indonesia would have 43m students aged 5–14 in 2005, ⁷⁸ New Zealand's figure was 606,000. Demands on budgets may arise from the age profile of the population (e.g. older populations may require more expenditure on health and social care). The OECD reported that in 2007, Australia, Chile, Korea and New Zealand had above-average proportions of their population aged 5–14 and above-average expenditure on education as a percentage of GDP.⁷⁹

These factors drive decisions about priorities for the allocation of resources as well as the types of resources to be made available. In Ghana, the Education Strategic Plan for 2010–2020 includes plans to increase the resources for basic education, including making provision to accommodate increased numbers of students transferring from primary to junior high schools as part of its drive to achieve free, compulsory basic education for all. At a practical level⁸⁰ this means ensuring conditions – including good housing with running water – are sufficient to ensure an adequate supply of motivated teachers.

 $^{^{\}mbox{\scriptsize dd}}$ In the same period, the OECD average was 6.1%.

⁶⁰ Using the definition where a billion is a thousand million (1,000,000,000) and a trillion is a million million (1,000,000,000).

Some countries have chosen to increase expenditure on education at a greater rate than overall growth in GDP; in some cases, such as Korea, the increase has been marked (from 6.1% to 7.6% between 2000 and 2008).^{ff}

Where education budgets are under pressure, it is particularly critical that resources are used to best effect:

- **a.** In Ontario, numbers of school boards were reduced and provision for administrative costs capped.⁸¹
- b. In its Education Strategic Plan, Ghana's government identified the need to rationalise staffing in junior and senior high schools to achieve more efficient student-teacher ratios and better deployment.
- c. In the case of Indonesia, the World Bank identified scope for reducing costs and improving teacher quality by limiting schools' ability to misuse school-based budgets to hire excess teaching staff, and by establishing more cost-effective staffing models.⁸²

^{ff} Of course, if GDP increases, even if actual expenditure on education increases (but at a lower rate), there will be a drop in the percentage of GDP allocated to education.

Table 1: Composite data on funding

Country or Area	Vear	GDP Value (Note 1)	Per capita GDP value	Year: 2005, Medium variant model, Value	% GDP expenditure on primary, secondary and post-secondary non-tertiary education 2000 (Note 2)	% GDP expenditure on primary, secondary and post-secondary non-tertiary education 2008 (Note 3)	% GDP expenditure on education: all: 2000	% GDP expenditure on education: all: 2008	% Expenditure on education as a % of overall government expenditure: 2008: (Notes 4, 5 and 6)	% Expenditure on primary, secondary and post-secondary non-tertiary education as a % of overall government expenditure: 2008; (Notes 4 and 5)
Australia	2008	1,015,217,254,200.00	49,877	2 739	3.5	3.6	5	5.2	12.9	9.7
Canada	2008	1,400,090,721,224.50	45,073	3 985	3.3	3.6	5.9	9	12.3	7.8
Chile	2008	169,458,036,567.30	10,167	2 816	4.4	4.2	6.7	7.1	16.8	12.3
Hong Kong, China	2008	215,354,551,486.50	30,843	748					23.0	
Czech Republic	2008	216,485,327,621.50	20,940	1 061	2.8	2.8	4.2	4.5	9.5	6.1
Finland	2008	271,281,926,812.50	50,991		3.6	3.8	5.6	5.9	12.4	7.9
Ghana	2008	16,123,436,501.40	692	5 391		4.0				
Indonesia	2008	514,388,987,529.70	2,246	43 086	Missing	2.9	Missing	3.3	17.9	
Korea, Republic	2008	929,120,911,029.40	19,343		3.5	4.2	6.1	7.6	15.8	11.0
Netherlands	2008	860,335,669,609.20	52,843	1 998	3.4	3.7	5.1	5.6	11.9	7.7
New Zealand	2008	130,693,034,619.00	30,708	909	4.4	4.5	5.6	9.9	18.6	11.8
Poland	2008	526,966,367,424.10	13,893		3.9	3.6	5.6	2.7	11.8	8.0
Singapore	2008	181,948,343,395.70	40,793						15.3	
Slovenia	2008	54,613,121,506.30	27,117		Missing	3.7	Missing	5.4	11.8	7.9
Tunisia	2008	40,180,180,180.20	4,026					7.3	20.8	
Note 1: GDP and Note 2: % GDP Note 3: Figure re Note 4: From Of Note 5: For Cansinote 6: Figure re Note 6: Figure re	d GDP r expendi elating tc ECD <i>Edu</i> ada, the	Note 1: GDP and GDP per capita; populations: UN Data Centre UNESCO Institute for Statistics downloaded 15/11/11. Money in current \$US. Note 2: % GDP expenditure on education from OECD Education at a Glance 2011 unless otherwise stated. Note 3: Figure relating to Ghana coloured green relates to basic education only for 2006. Source: World Bank. Note 4: From OECD Education at a Glance 2011. Derived from charts, so percentage is approximate. Yellow cells from UN Data Centre as above. Note 5: For Canada, the year of reference is 2007 instead of 2008; for Chile, year is 2009. Note 6: Figure relating to Tunisia coloured pink relates to 2005 and is derived from http://www.childinfo.org/files/MENA_Tunisia.pdf	N Data Cent ECD Educat slates to bas Derived fron instead of 2 ates to 2005	re UNESCO fron at a Glar sic education n charts, so 1008; for Chil	ions: UN Data Centre UNESCO Institute for Statistics downloaded 15/11/11. Money in cufrom OECD Education at a Glance 2011 unless otherwise stated. green relates to basic education only for 2006. Source: World Bank. 2011. Derived from charts, so percentage is approximate. Yellow cells from UN Data Ce is 2007 instead of 2008; for Chile, year is 2009. pink relates to 2005 and is derived from http://www.childinfo.org/files/MENA_Tunisia.pdf	tistics downloa cotherwise statu Source: World I pproximate. Yel www.childinfo.o	ded 15/11/11. ed. Sank. low cells from rg/files/MENA_	Money in curre UN Data Centre	nt \$US. e as above.	

Sources of funding and distribution mechanisms

There are variations depending on the circumstances in particular education systems. However, there are broadly three approaches to finding and allocating funds for education:⁸³

- a. mainly via central government
- **b.** mainly by regional government
- c. mainly by local government.

Often the distinction is not so clear-cut. Sometimes, responsibility is shared between central and local or regional government. Central government, for instance, may fund the salaries of teaching and non-teaching staff,⁹⁹ while running costs or capital costs are met by local or regional authorities.

Even where central or regional government provides all or most of the funds, subsidiary bodies at regional or local level may be used to distribute them.

Mainly central government

In New Zealand,⁸⁴ while schools can raise additional funds, the central Ministry of Education provides an Operations Grant and Salaries Grant to school boards. (The Operations Grant is for items such as the salaries of administrative staff, school maintenance, additional teaching staff and learning resources.) The Salaries Grant is for staff holding management positions in the school. Teachers' salaries are paid directly by central government. The approach is consistent with giving schools considerable autonomy and makes a clear link between funding and accountability.

Sometimes, funding may be distributed through regional governments. While this may help greater tailoring to particular circumstances, it can lead to a loss of transparency and uncertainties about accountability.

In the Czech Republic,⁸⁵ as in New Zealand, schools are independent legal entities with considerable autonomy and, while most of their funding is from public sources, they, too, can raise supplementary funds themselves (e.g. from prospective employers, rental of premises etc). The Ministry of Education provides funds for 'direct education costs' (largely salaries); makes the rules governing the allocation of funds; then either allocates funds to schools via the regional bodies (or, in the case of schools under its direct control or the control of the Church, allocates the funds directly). Regional bodies then distribute funds to schools within rules set by the Ministry of Education, based on per capita sums for each student. Schools' organising bodies at regional and municipal level provide funds from their own budgets for capital costs and running costs that are not directly related to education.

⁹⁹ And may also negotiate national pay arrangements.

In Slovenia, the Ministry of Education and Sport is not only responsible for policy development, but also for finance. The Ministry decides the funding criteria and provides resources for school employees, as well as supplementary funding for buildings, equipment and operational expenses. As in the Czech Republic, it is the local administrative bodies (municipalities in this case) that must make available most of the capital funding, as well as resources for maintenance and extra-curricular activities. Funding comes from national and municipal taxes, with schools able to raise money from other sources (for example from the founder, or from student payments, e.g. for outings).

In Ghana, most education is funded by the national government. ⁸⁶ (Government statistics from 2007 showed that 89.7% of education funding was provided by Ghana itself, with 10.3% coming from external sources, such as donors.) Expenditure broke down broadly into recurrent costs (80% – of which 87% was salaries) and capital costs (20%). However, district assemblies have a District Education Fund to be used for building, equipping and maintaining their schools. With the approval of District Assemblies, they can impose special taxes to fund specific school projects. The government envisages greater decentralisation of responsibility, with more resources given to district offices.

Mainly regional government

A significant number of countries (8/23 in NFER's survey of OECD and European school funding models)⁸⁷ gather and distribute funding for education at regional level.

In Australia, the federal government provides 27% of funds (for example for national programmes). However, states and territories raise most of the funds (73%) via income tax.

Just as governance of education in Canada is regional, with some collaboration at national level, so funding is collected and distributed regionally. In Ontario,⁸⁸ funding is raised through personal and corporate taxes, retail sales tax and other general taxes. The provincial government provides the largest proportion of the funding for education (70% compared with 26% from local taxes and a small amount – 4% – from central government). Since 1998 funding has been raised largely through property tax. The provincial government of Ontario sets the rate throughout the province. Residential property tax rates are the same everywhere, but business taxes may vary by municipality. Municipalities collect the education element of these taxes and distribute funding. Since 1998, the province has used formulae, reflecting policy decisions, to determine each school board's overall allocation. Where the municipal authorities cannot raise sufficient funds through taxes to meet school boards' allocations, the province makes good the shortfall. In principle, this ensures that school boards in poorer municipalities are not disadvantaged and ensures the province has control over board policies.

hh Citing OECD statistics for 2000.

8 How are resources allocated? How does this link to policy implementation?

Decisions about how funds are allocated to schools may be made at central, regional or local level. At national level, first of all, decisions are made about the balance of funding between the different education sectors. In Ghana, for instance, the government⁹⁰ plans to increase the funding for basic education by 2015, counterbalanced by cuts in the overall tertiary budget.

Subsequent decisions about the allocation of funds may be made on the basis of a formula or on an ad hoc basis. Alongside this, governments may choose to fund programmes designed to address short-term needs. Central or regional governments may either require that the formulae they use are copied in distributing funds to schools, allow subsidiary bodies flexibility to adapt the allocations to fit local circumstances (subject to adherence to guidance, thresholds/caps on expenditure), or ring-fence broad categories of expenditure such as teachers' salaries, special needs or capital investment.

In theory, the more direct and short the line between schools and the financial provider, the greater the chance that there will be an understanding of local needs. On the other hand, greater central (or regional) direction can ensure fairer access to education and help to avoid a geographical lottery that may exacerbate ethnic or other (for example SES or rural/urban) divides that reflect differences in local tax bases. It can also implement policies seen as important by the system leaders. NFER identified⁹¹ a range of local/regional responsibilities from:

- a. considerable independence, where regional/local authorities bring together resources from a range of sources, including central government (and possibly external providers) and develop a budget. Where funds from central government are involved, these may come with requirements or be ring-fenced. In Finland, for instance, municipal authorities receive two allocations from central government, one of which must be spent on capital costs and the other on operational costs
- b. a shared responsibility between central and local government, where the local body may make decisions (about capital allocations, for instance) where it is responsible for raising funds
- **c.** local/regional bodies' roles limited to distribution of central funds in accordance with national requirements.

Formulae have the advantage of greater transparency. They can be designed to reflect the student population and take account of policy priorities. 92 Where resources are allocated according to a set of criteria, the most common take account of student numbers, phase of education, age and teaching hours. Systems looking for a broader range of indicators

Including an increase in funding for junior high schools from 16.3% in 2008 to 21.9% in 2015, balanced by cuts in tertiary funding from 23% to 14.1% in the same period.

also use factors such as student attainment, deprivation and school size. (More details can be found at Annex D.) The result may be:

- a. allocation of a general pot of money, possibly with some guidelines for use
- b. ring-fencing of some budgets so that they are spent on particular groups of students or for particular purposes. For instance, indicators may be used to identify (and give extra resources for) special needs or deprivation. Alternatively, authorities may choose to channel some of these funds via targeted programmes.

Models involving central government

In the Czech Republic,⁹³ the Ministry of Education decides how education funds will be allocated. It allocates funds:

- a. to schools under its direct control, or under the control of the Church
- b. via the regions to institutions under their control or run by other authorities
- **c.** to schools carrying out pilot programmes as well for the Ministry's own education development programmes.

The Ministry of Education meets the direct costs of education, especially the salaries of teachers and others. The funding is allocated using formulae based on student numbers and phase of schooling (i.e. aged 3–5, 6–15, 16–18 and 19–21 years).

Based on the indicators set by the Ministry, regional authorities decide per capita sums for the direct costs, taking account of the type of school and education programme, as well as policy objectives. Per capita sums for students with special needs are larger. Funding is then passed to schools managed by the regional authority, as well as to nursery and basic schools operated by municipal authorities.

Slovenia⁹⁴ has a similar approach. The Ministry of Education, which provides funding for school employees' salaries and additional funding for capital and operational costs,^{jj} sets and applies the national funding criteria annually.

In Chile, 95 school funding via vouchers was introduced by the military government in 1980. Its stated aims included improvements in quality and access. Public schools are managed by municipal governments and entirely funded through student vouchers, which are based on student attendance. Subsidised private schools are partly funded through student vouchers. 96 (There are also entirely private schools, which receive no government funding.) The democratic governments kept the voucher system, but added funding in the 1990s in order to improve quality in municipal schools. kk Although highly decentralised in operational terms, policy responsibility for the voucher system and any parallel funding programmes remains with the Ministry.

ⁱⁱ Municipalities provide most of the capital funds, together with funding for maintenance and extra-curricular activities.

Through the Educational Quality Improvement Programme (MECE). (Council on Hemispheric Affairs https://www.coha.org/the-failings-of-chile%E2%80%99s-education-system-institutionalized-inequality-and-a-preference-for-the-affluent/
The failings of Chile's education system: institutionalized inequality and a preference for the affluent. Analysis was prepared by COHA Research Associate Andrea Arango 30 July 2008.)

While some argue that the voucher system has increased the provision of education and achieved improvements in outcomes, it has some distinct problems:

- **a.** The more disadvantaged parents are less likely to have access to usable information about school performance or the ability to exercise choice.
- b. Parents of poorer students cannot afford supplementary charges at subsidised private schools, nor are they able to fund the travel costs which may be necessary to access better schools. Consequently, schools tend to serve different portions of the population, based on socio-economic status, with the wealthier students having access to the better-funded provision. This leads to increased social selectivity and the equity gap in attainment.
- **c.** The quality of outcomes in private-subsidised and private schools is better.

Arenas⁹⁷ argued these disadvantages could be mitigated by:

- a. targeting extra funding at students from disadvantaged backgrounds
- **b.** ensuring vouchers cover the entire cost of education (particularly for disadvantaged students)
- **c.** requiring that schools receiving government funds operate inclusive enrolment policies. (This can be hard to put into practice.)

Models involving regional and local government

In Ontario, funds are allocated by the province to school boards on the basis of indicators. The main factors are student numbers, which, in turn, determine allocations for funding items such as teachers, textbooks and classroom supplies. However there are further indicators used to refine the allocations to take account, for instance, of school size (e.g. elementary schools with fewer than 50 students are allocated funding for 0.5 of a principal) or language (French-language-only boards receive additional funding to offset the higher costs of French language programmes).⁹⁸

While the principle of a student-based formula allocation has remained, there have been developments to reflect political and economic changes. There were funding cuts in the 1980s and 1990s. Later funding additions were often in the form of targeted grants and programmes. The provincial government has also taken the initiative to limit the impact of the economic crisis by negotiating collective agreements with staff, increasing Grants for Student Needs and adjusting benchmarks for board costs affected by inflation (e.g. transport) while capping administrative costs.⁹⁹

Monitoring¹⁰⁰ has identified areas where formula funding has left gaps (such as transport costs for remote schools). The special purpose grants are adjusted each year to reflect policy priorities. For 2011–12¹⁰¹ allocations to school boards comprised:

- a. a Pupil Foundation Grant (the largest grant at \$9,802.4m out of a total of \$21,014.6m) covering the costs of teachers, assistants, textbooks, classroom supplies, library and guidance services, specialist teachers, professional/para-professional support staff and classroom consultants
- **b.** a School Foundation Grant covering the costs of principals, vice-principals, school secretaries and school office supplies
- c. thirteen special-purpose grants relating to a range of policies including special education, language (i.e. English as a Second Language), programmes for Aboriginal students and learning opportunities (e.g. additional English and maths, funding for programmes to offset socio-economic deprivation and potential under-achievement)
- d. funding relating to interest payments and capital debts.

In devising their allocations to schools, school boards have flexibility to develop and act on their budgets. However, they have to take account of provincial requirements (e.g. for teaching time, class size as well as for curriculum delivery), they are not permitted to vire from some grants (e.g. for special education) nor to exceed the allocation for others (e.g. school board administration and governance). 102

Decentralisation of decisions about how funds are to be allocated may lead to greater responsiveness because of a better understanding of local needs. ¹⁰³ However, it requires that local officials have (or are helped to develop) the capacity to carry out the work, that funds are sufficient to enable students to have equitable access to education and that there is transparency and accountability for the allocation and expenditure of resources. ¹⁰⁴ Therefore, the national government needs to establish a framework of requirements, as well as monitoring arrangements, within which the bodies with delegated authority can operate.

Some systems leave responsibility for allocation of funds to local government. In Poland, while education is funded by the national government, through a budget announced each December, the bodies responsible for 'running and supporting' the schools (i.e. the districts and communes) set the budgets for the schools in their area. ¹⁰⁵ The regional governments, which have responsibility for more professional matters, 'cooperate' with the districts and communes in respect of school finances. (Teacher salaries, which are a significant proportion of each school's budget, are determined by central government.)

In Ghana, ¹⁰⁶ as part of an earlier decentralisation programme, the Ministry introduced a capitation grant in 2004 which led to increased enrolments, particularly in the first grade. However, it was insufficient to cover all costs. A review of Ghana's progress ¹⁰⁷ and plans for the future recognised the need to give fairer access to education, including secondary education. The Education Strategic Plan (ESP) ¹⁰⁸ planned to increase decentralisation at district, community and school levels, including the delegation of increased funds to

[∥] Move money.

district offices. Alongside this, the ESP included extensive capacity-building in the first part of the Plan period (from 2010 to 2013).

In Indonesia, responsibility for funding free, compulsory basic education is shared between central government, the provinces, districts and municipalities. (About 60% of funding is provided by central government.) The balance of responsibility for funding and the mechanisms used have evolved:¹⁰⁹

- **a.** In 1999, school-based management (SBM) was introduced, with the aim of improving schools.
- **b.** In 2002–03, 92% of primary school budgets were funded by district governments, whereas the figure was 82% and 77% in junior secondary and senior secondary schools respectively. Parents were responsible for finding the balance.
- c. From 2001 to 2005, central government allocated funds to a scholarship programme for students from poorer families (BKM). This followed a programme which ran for three years from 1998 to 2000.¹¹⁰
- d. In 2005, the government reduced funding for BKM,^{mm} while introducing block grants for schools to cover operational costs (the Operational Aid to Schools programme, BOS.) This was based on student numbers, with primary schools receiving approximately two-thirds of the per-student funding compared with junior secondary schools. The aim was to reduce or eliminate school fees. Funds were paid quarterly into individual school bank accounts to reduce 'leakage' and provide 'greater transparency'. Schools' budgets are approved by the school committee, comprising the principal and parents' representatives.

A small-scale evaluation of the first scholarship programme concluded that it had proved a successful response to the Indonesian economic crisis of 1998, reducing drop-out rates.¹¹¹

The World Bank concluded that SBM had successfully improved access by poorer students. 112 Parents had become more involved and teachers had changed their behaviours, leading to reduced failure and repetition rates and improved student outcomes. 1nd

While the initiatives have had positive outcomes, they have raised issues to be considered by other systems considering formula funding and decentralisation of responsibilities:¹¹³

- a. Inadequate links between central, local and school responsibilities have led to lack of clarity about responsibilities and weaknesses in policy implementation.
- b. The risk that decentralising BOS from 2011, with allocation via regional government

mm In 2009, BKM accounted for 8.9% of national education expenditure, funding 208,000 schools with 41.3m students.

Met enrolment of pupils from poor backgrounds increased to more than 93% in primary schools in 2009; junior secondary from 52% in 2006 to 59% in 2009 alongside increasing completion rates from 50% to 55%.

budgets, would lead to delays, loss of transparency and 'greater fiduciary risks'.¹¹⁴ If schools are to plan properly, they need to know their budget allocation at the start of the budget cycle and preferably for more than one year to allow sensible planning.

- c. Lacking cost-effective student/teacher ratios, schools are using school budgets to fund unnecessary numbers of staff, when the intention had been that BOS could only be used to make good temporary skill shortages.
- d. Without good data about disadvantaged students, BOS does not target them effectively. Evaluation of the scholarship programme identified the same weakness because of the lack of household-level data.¹¹⁵
- **e.** Careful targeting of funds for particular policy aims (e.g. the retention of poorer students) is more cost effective.
- f. There are gaps between high- and low-performing school districts, as well as between levels of regional wealth. Decentralisation can increase the effect of differences in wealth. If there is to be equitable access to education, the World Bank recommended funding to supplement BOS which took account of factors such as regional GDP per capita and poverty rates.
- **g.** Training and guidance for local officials and school committees, particularly in BOS, needs to be clear and accessible.
- h. It would be worthwhile for district offices to support the development and dissemination of good practice by school committees through grants and the arrangement of meetings for cluster groups.

Schools managing their own budgets

In high-performing and improving systems, schools are increasingly being given the freedom to manage some or all of their budgets. Their freedom may enable them to make decisions about the entirety of their budget allocation. Alternatively, their funding may be allocated to specific categories, such as teachers' salaries and maintenance. In some cases, part of the costs may be met at central, regional or district level, with schools receiving resources in kind – such as an allocation of teaching hours.

In theory, the greater the degree of flexibility, the greater schools' ability to match their budgets to their specific needs.¹¹⁷ In some systems, financial autonomy includes responsibility for budget deficits, as well as the scope to save or take out loans. If resources are to be used effectively and appropriately:

- a. officials, school staff and any stakeholder committee members will need training
- b. officials and relevant school staff will need to have time to carry out their

- responsibilities, and stakeholder committee members will need to be asked for appropriate levels of input (i.e. at strategic rather than operational levels)
- **c.** schools will need access to accurate information^{oo} and effective professional support,^{pp} whether from local, regional or national sources
- **d.** budget planning will need to make clear links between spending and plans to enhance student outcomes, establishing and monitoring spending-related targets.

In the Netherlands, schools receive public funding if they meet quality standards and fulfil funding conditions. Decisions about teachers' pay and working conditions are partially decentralised. Running costs (i.e. the Running Costs Funding System: BSM) are based on student numbers on top of a flat-rate grant. Primary schools are given a block grant for staffing costs and a block grant for running costs. Schools boards decide their own budgets within this sum of money. Secondary schools are given one block grant from which to budget for staff and running costs. Schools have considerable flexibility, as long as they fulfil their legal requirements.¹¹⁸

Some high-performing systems have chosen to give freedom to particular types of schools, again with the aim of improving educational outcomes:

- a. In Singapore,¹¹⁹ the government has established autonomous schools¹²⁰ and independent schools which have to meet quality criteria. Both types of school continue to receive a per-capita grant from the government which matches that available to other publicly-funded schools, but they can charge fees (defined by the government).¹²¹ Publicly-funded independent schools were established in the 1980s and have control over staffing and fees. Autonomous schools were established in 1994. They are given additional funds for development activities and given greater flexibility about staff appointments. Singapore also allowed some high-performing schools to become independent.
- b. In Ontario, charter schools are largely independent from school boards, managing their own funding allocations themselves. They receive additional payments for meeting their objectives and pay penalties for failure to do so. They are not allowed to charge tuition fees.¹²²

on Information might include socio-economic and performance data for pupils; projections relating to pupil numbers and staff costs.

PP This might include help with preparing papers for committees; advice on benchmarking, procurement and achieving value for money in a system focused on improving pupil outcomes.

9 What can be done to ensure resources are used effectively and properly? Audit, monitoring and evaluation of the impact of spending

Effective and proper use of resources means:

- a. using them to meet agreed objectives
- b. getting good value for money
- c. spending the funds on defined activities, goods or services
- **d.** avoiding actual or perceived conflicts of interest between those people allocating the funds and their own private or commercial interests.

Achieving effective and proper use of resources requires:

- a. ensuring that the relevant information and data are available as a basis for planning. Taking sound decisions requires access to relevant and accessible information, as well as the knowledge to understand what factors will influence the quality of education
- **b.** training, guidance and support to ensure that officials and others (e.g. headteachers, heads of department) know what is required of them in terms of processes, and are able to plan and budget strategically
- c. budgets to be linked to educational outcomes. Decisions need to take account of value for money and opportunity costs (i.e. the cost of not investing in an alternative option). There is a risk that support for budgeting and monitoring will focus on compliance with processes (NFER^{123, qq}) rather than on effective resource management
- **d.** involvement of stakeholders in decisions about spending and the follow-up review of outcomes
- **e.** ensuring there are documented processes in place for carrying out decisions about expenditure and subsequently auditing what has been done to ensure compliance.

In Ontario, school boards are required to set budgets each year within the context of their longer-term strategic plans. Boards must consult thoroughly with staff, school councils and other stakeholders, especially about spending priorities. Boards have to demonstrate they have met the requirement to be 'accountable in making the best decisions possible for the students in their schools'. They need information so they can decide issues such as the level of education programmes and services; transport provision and policies; opening and closing schools; and aligning school catchment areas.

In Ontario, 125 the Ministry of Education distinguishes between the role of the board in administering the budget and of the trustees in ensuring funds are spent appropriately. Boards are required to have audit committees and to carry out audits of areas such as operational effectiveness, financial reporting and compliance, as well as the deterrence and investigation of fraud. They have access to much guidance and training, including a manual^{rr} targeted at trustees, school boards, directors of education and stakeholders, as well as technical guidance on budget-setting. The provincial government requires school boards to submit estimates and reports in accordance with a set timetable. The Ministry monitors expenditure to ensure boards keep to the rules, punishing those that fail to do so by withholding funding. 126

In Ghana, ¹²⁷ as part of its aim to improve monitoring, evaluation, accountability and efficiency, the Ministry planned:

- a. to implement the ESP through a three-year rolling work plan and an Annual Education Sector Operational Plan (AESOP). These were to be scheduled to link into strategic and operational financial planning mechanisms and budgets
- b. to link devolution of responsibilities to arrangements for accountability:
 - at school level through performance agreements based on the School Report Card system that 'develops accountability relationships between parents, schools and the DEO'
 - similar links between the Ghana Education Service (GES), regional and district education offices
- c. to strengthen EMIS^{ss} as a mechanism for data collection available online, with training at MoE, GES, central, regional and district levels in use of EMIS data. The Ministry recognised the need to strengthen data collection, including in relation to education quality
- d. to conduct an Education Sector Annual Review a stakeholder conference to review progress, ending with a signed agreement between Ministry and stakeholder partners. This provides the basis of planning (i.e. the AESOP) for the next year.

In Indonesia, 128 the accountability is 'assured' by:

- a. the link between budgets and school development plans
- **b.** the requirements for financial records, and
- c. oversight by individual school committees.

^{rr} Good Governance which includes an overview of the education system; becoming a trustee; governance; legal responsibilities and liabilities; meeting procedures; education funding; collective bargaining; working with stakeholders and media relations.

The Ministry's EMIS system collects data on the school profile, infrastructure, management and finance, buildings and classrooms, equipment, textbooks, enrolment and teachers. (Chung, C. L. (2009). Ghana School Report Card Findings Including EMIS Support Assessment. Academy for Educational Development. Available: http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PNADQ833.pdf [8 June 2010])

In addition, the government's Financial and Development Supervisory Agency (BPKP) carries out annual audits. (BPKP audits for 2008 and 2009 were 'clean'.) The World Bank is concerned that decentralisation involving payment of BOS via the regions will lead to lower transparency and greater 'fiduciary' risks. 129

The Ministry¹³⁰ carries out reviews of programme implementation. Before starting implementation, the Ministry holds coordinating meetings with district and provincial level staff. This is necessary since, under decentralisation, districts can establish their own policies. Since 2005, the Ministry has required a uniform approach to accounting. This has improved audit outcomes so that the percentage disclaimers by internal and external auditors dropped to less than 0.5%.

10 What is the role of private schools? How do they relate to public (state) schools?

The term private has many meanings across education systems. It includes:

- a. schools which are independent of the state, relying entirely on fees
- **b.** schools which receive part or all of their funding from the state.

In some systems, only the wealthy can afford to use private schools; in others, private schools may provide a low-cost alternative to public provision, either because public provision is not available or parents regard it as unsatisfactory.

There are intermediate positions. In Ontario, ¹³¹ for instance, there are four parallel publicly-funded systems comprising: 31 English school boards, 29 English Catholic school boards, 8 French Catholic school boards and 4 French public school boards. However, in addition to this, there are private schools that receive no public funding. These are administered by individuals, associations or corporations and must meet provincial standards for elementary and secondary schools. ¹³² Many have religious links.

Several high-performing and improving systems have established close links between the public and private sectors: provision of substantial public funds has enabled the systems to ensure that these schools meet specified criteria:

a. In Poland,¹³³ non-profit making ('social' or 'civic') schools began to open in the 1980s. Following legislation in 1991, non-public schools were permitted. They are funded through fees, as well as foundations. Since the primary schools provided compulsory education, they had to follow the requirements for public schools in terms of matters such as timetables, assessment and the employment of teachers. In exchange, they were classified as non-public schools with the same rights as public schools and received per capita funding equating to the average cost of a student in a comparable

public school. Similar arrangements apply to secondary schools, so long as they provide a curriculum based on the core curriculum and follow requirements relating to assessment and the employment of teachers.

- b. In the Czech Republic,¹³⁴ non-public schools comprise private and denominational schools. There is no legislation setting the fee levels, but denominational schools generally do not charge fees. Private schools receive subsidies from the Ministry of Education (via the regional authority). The amounts are set annually in legislation. Subsidies are on a per capita basis, as a percentage of the sum paid to a similar publicly-funded school. Basic levels of subsidy (e.g. 60% of the per capita sum for basic, upper secondary and tertiary professional schools) are increased (to 100% for basic and special schools and up to 90% for upper secondary and tertiary professional schools) if private schools meet specified criteria, including being a not-for-profit organisation and meeting quality standards (through evaluation by the Czech School Inspectorate). Denominational schools are funded similarly to public schools.
- **c.** In the Netherlands, ¹³⁵ the divide between publicly- and privately-operated schools is even less evident, since the Ministry of Education, Culture and Science administers most central government spending and is required to fund all institutions equally, whether public or private. All schools in return must meet government requirements in terms of matters such as examinations, the curriculum and teachers' salaries. The main difference is that, whereas public schools are governed by school boards operated and staffed by municipal authorities, private schools have independent boards, often with parents and volunteers as members.

In reviewing PISA outcomes in 2003, 136 the OECD concluded that:

'the main empirical result is that rather than harming disadvantaged students, accountability, autonomy and choice appear to be tides that lift all boats. The additional choice created by public funding for private schools in particular is associated with a strong reduction in the dependence of student achievement on SES.'

The OECD found that family background had less impact on student achievement in systems where government funding for private schools was similar to that for publicly-managed schools.

While an independent sector can provide more choice for some, there is a risk that, if policies are not put in place to counter disadvantage, school populations will polarise along socio-economic lines, to the detriment of disadvantaged students. The introduction of education vouchers in Chile¹³⁷ increased participation by poorer students, but it has led to divisions with the poorest students attending municipal schools, some of the poor and middle-class students attending the private subsidised schools and the 'highest echelon' attending private schools. This has occurred because poorer parents cannot afford the additional fees and expenses associated even with the private subsidised schools.¹³⁸

In Ghana, the private sector plays a significant role in education. In 2008, 17% of primary, 17% of junior high school and 10% of senior high school students were at private schools. In addition to registered private schools, there appear to be substantial numbers of small, unregistered private schools. Noting the role to be played by public private partnerships in providing basic education for marginalised and disadvantaged groups, Akyeampong Akyeampong It recommended strategic planning and funding (e.g. via capitation grants) to give access to private schools where there was no public provision, in conjunction with a common regulatory and accountability framework.

11 Conclusions

Some high-performing and improving education systems have chosen to decentralise aspects of their policy-making, administration and funding. Their starting points, objectives and contexts have differed considerably, though stated aims have tended to include improvements in educational quality.

In the right context, decentralisation can mean that planning is closer to users of services and therefore more responsive to their needs. In principle, where providers have a greater say over how they work, they are likely to be more motivated; at the same time, parents who have more involvement in their children's education may be more committed and supportive. There may also be opportunities to bring together complementary services, such as education and health.

However, as Davies, Harber and Dzimadzi¹⁴² noted, there is no automatic link between decentralisation and improvements in educational quality. Governance structures and financial arrangements need to be fit for purpose. That is, they need to be designed to take account of the political, cultural and economic state of the system, as well as its scale. There is little value – and may be considerable harm – in giving responsibilities or funds to parts of the system that lack the capacity or commitment to take them on successfully.

Governance structures and financial arrangements need not be set in stone. Many of the high-performing and improving systems have either designed in scope for later adjustments or decided to make changes as a result of lessons learned.

Organisational design may include provision for a staged move towards greater decentralisation and participation. This is a long-term undertaking requiring political will, careful planning, capacity building and investment. Involving those affected by the changes is likely to lead to more realistic and achievable plans.

Radical decentralisation is especially risky where regional and local organisations, as well as schools, have limited professional capabilities and there is little evidence of stakeholder participation – either at a political or institutional level. At this stage, the focus

may be on putting in place basic educational provision as well as establishing robust frameworks and standards in areas such as the curriculum, student attainment, teacher quality and financial probity. It may be most productive to focus energies and resources on promoting equity in access to education and on improving educational experiences for the disadvantaged and the lowest attainers.

Subsequently, there may be deconcentration of functions, which may mean more experienced officials taking up some roles at regional or local level. Once frameworks and standards are established, more authority may be delegated, with safeguards in place to ensure that powerful local interests are not able to undermine policy and to avoid corruption.

Only when there is a high level of teacher professionalism and informed stakeholder participation, can schools take the lead. This will need a robust policy and administrative framework^{tt} at local, regional and national level to ensure a coherent and equitable education system.

Progressive decentralisation leads to an evolution in the roles of policy-makers, officials, stakeholders and staff in school. Rather than a hierarchical relationship, there is a greater demand for collaborative working, as well as appropriate consultation and communication.

However, a role for central governance remains: maintaining responsibility for policy; strategic planning and budgeting; upholding and reviewing frameworks and monitoring and promoting standards; ensuring that overall policy makes sense and is fair; as well as comparing inputs and outputs against those in other education systems. Their position also equips them to ensure that data, inspection and audit information are available, not only for planning and intervention, but also to enable parents and other stakeholders to make well-founded decisions.

Whatever the structures adopted, they need to line up sensibly from central government, through any intermediate structures, to schools. Roles, responsibilities and accountabilities need to be coherent and clear.

Some high-performing and improving systems raise funds for education at national, regional and local level. The key is to ensure that the overall sums available do not disadvantage areas with a potentially smaller tax base and schools serving more of the most disadvantaged groups.

If structures are to work effectively and accountabilities to be made real, then organisations need to have appropriate control over resources, particularly in terms of access to funding and decisions about how resources are to be used.

Funding priorities will be different depending on the objectives of an education system.

¹¹ For example curriculum framework, quality assurance mechanisms, fair admissions policies, redistributive funding to target disadvantaged students, etc.

Where it is targeting universal basic education, priorities may be focused on supplying classrooms, textbooks and sufficient adequately qualified teachers, while removing barriers to access (e.g. based on gender, location or ethnic status). Where the objectives are further improvements in quality and student attainment, there may be investment in developing more advanced curricula and more highly-qualified teachers. Although the complexity may differ, high-performing and improving systems:

- a. collect data on inputs and outputs as a basis for policy-making and implementation
- **b.** take context-appropriate steps to reduce educational disadvantage in order to give every student equal opportunities (and for the benefit of the system overall)
- **c.** make decisions about priorities between different phases of the system depending on objectives
- **d.** seek accountability for the use of resources, including auditing expenditure and evaluating value for money.

Additionally, they may:

- **a.** look at other countries' expenditure in relation to GDP and per capita GDP to benchmark spending plans
- **b.** aim to learn from other systems about cost-effective use of resources, such as PTRs and limiting administrative costs so that more funds can be spent on improving the quality of instruction in the classroom
- **c.** distribute funding via published formulae in order to ensure transparency, ease of auditing and demonstrate links to policy decisions.

There may be instances where private schools can complement state provision – even making good the inability of systems to provide for all students and offering choice, which can drive up quality overall. On the other hand, private schools have the potential for embedding disadvantage and increasing inequity in outcomes. Where they are receiving public funds, they appear to be most effective if they are required to meet standards for quality and equity of access which are similar to those applying to public (i.e. state) schools. Where they are usefully supplementing public provision, as a minimum, they would benefit from investment, monitoring and support to enable them to develop the quality of their provision.

Annex A

An analysis of decentralisation in Ghana

(Derived from Figure 3: Framework for analysing education decentraliation experiences, and Figure 5: Status of education decentralisation in Ghana¹⁴³)

Category for analysis	Content	Ghana
Environment and context	National context including economic, political and social influences	Tradition of decentralisation in first 30 years of independence. Ongoing decentralisation since 1988.
Rationale	Motives and reasons for educational decentralisation	Shift decision-making to local level to democratise state institutions. Cost reduction. Efficient use and allocation of resources.
Form of decentralisation	Organisation structure and design to support the process	Regions (10) coordinate districts (110). District Assembly Common Fund Property, fuel and minor taxes, and fees at local level. Districts responsible for urban services, primary education and health.
Level of implementation	Level (provincial/state, local/ district, school) and function (administrative, political, fiscal, economic)	
Stage and outcomes of implementation	Progress with implementation	Deconcentration of administrative authority with little decentralisation of decision-making authority. Ministries continue to operate in centralised way.

Annex B

An evaluation of community capacity to make informed decisions about school quality

A 2002 study of decentralisation in **Ghana**, 144 designed to check whether communities (i.e. parents/guardians, community members, parent/teacher associations and school management committee representatives and local leaders) were equipped to make informed decisions concluded that their evaluations of school quality lacked depth. The authors considered that, in order for decentralisation to achieve real community participation:

- Simply deciding to put a policy of decentralisation in place was not enough. To enable affected stakeholders to fulfil their new responsibilities, they would need training, as well as time for development.
- One of the most important types of training was to enable the community to be able
 to use evidence about good educational policy and practice to make judgements
 and decisions, rather than accepting received wisdom (e.g. they may think class size
 more important than adequate textbooks and student engagement). Training was also
 needed so the community could participate effectively in decision-making.
- The role of headteachers would become more important, so they would require
 training, both in terms of skills linked to increased responsibilities (e.g. in assessing
 the cost benefits in terms of learning outcomes of resource allocation decisions)
 as well as in building community participation, being transparent in their decisionmaking and demonstrating their accountability (e.g. by reporting the school's
 progress against targets).

Annex C

Making a reality of school performance review in Ghana

(Derived from: 'Using school performance data to drive school and Education District Office accountability and improvement: the case of Ghana', Prew, M. and Quaigrain, K. *Educational management administration & leadership*: 2010: 38: 728)

Methodology:

- Data was collected through interviews, review of documents, observation, standard testing, EMIS data.
- District staff (especially circuit supervisors) were trained in data collection, interview methodology, data analysis, school/classroom visit protocols and interview planning.
- The appraisal team measured each school's performance against benchmarks for performance and checklists of what should be present.

Reports:

- Reports for parents were changed to tabular form (e.g. thermometer) because this
 was familiar to parents.
- Schools were provided with a narrative report showing where they could improve.

Cycle:

- Data collection and analysis
- School performance appraisal meetings (SPAMs) where teachers can explain
 problems, community can talk about results and say where they would like to see
 improvements. Typically agree on action to resolve problems, e.g. fundraising.
- Circuit SPAMs are held, led by circuit supervisor comparing schools' performance, identifying commitments to training, support, action for Circuit Integrated Plan.
 Supervisor able to deal with under-performing headteachers and chairs of school management committees.
- District SPAM:
 - District education conference (EDUCON) public meeting for district political and traditional leadership, NGOs, heads, senior staff, school management committees, district managers and circuit supervisors. District able to prioritise and distribute funds to schools.

- Improvement plans, monitoring.
- LCD and GES review indicators and tools and re-start cycle.

Other capacity building:

- At circuit and district level, headteachers are involved in planning meetings. There are workshops for weaker schools with staff from stronger schools invited to act as cofacilitators.
- Targeting uses funds efficiently, avoiding training those whose performance against an indicator is evaluated as satisfactory.
- The process uses local experts who understand the context and demonstrates to schools that the circuit is responding to identified needs.

Annex D

Indicators for allocating funding

(Derived from School funding: a review of existing models in European and OECD countries, NFER, 2005)

Main indicators

- Number of students/classes
- Phase combined with student numbers can lead to significant differences in perstudent funding for primary vs. secondary students. Build up prototype funding models for phase.
- Age-weighted pupil units (AWPUs). Multiply pupil nos. x weight for category to get
 weighted total for each school. This is divided into funds available to get value for
 AWPU, then multiplied by AWPUs for a school to determine school's allocation under
 this factor.
- Number of teaching hours. Closer to activity-based funding since it takes account of required hours of teaching depending on particular subjects and numbers of students or formation of class groups.

Less commonly used indicators

 Performance data (attainment). May be used to compensate for low achievement or reward high achievement against performance measures.

- Performance data (attendance). Per-student allocations based on average daily enrolment of students.
- Historical spending data: most often used for operational/maintenance allocations: historical spending taking account of inflation e.g. transport costs.
- · Geographical: factors such as rural area, sparsity.
- School premises/maintenance: nature of building, other facilities such as sports facilities, fuel used.
- School size: small schools support factor, additional funds to compensate for large or small economies of scale. May have thresholds.
- Characteristics of teaching staff: Seniority may be a factor. Salaries may account for up to 80% of school funding.
- Type of school e.g. general or technical. Can determine number of teachers, facilities.

Indicators for Special Educational Needs

- Defining target area or population. Advantages: relatively simple to use residential
 areas for low-income levels/size of disadvantaged populations. Can capture
 disadvantage relatively simply and transparently. Disadvantages: schools do not
 necessarily enrol students from immediate area. Can lead to segregation in schools,
 large numbers of at-risk students in a single school.
- Attainment measures, SEN audits. Advantages: Tests readily available and provide
 data on complete cohort of students. Provide data at level of individuals. Transparent
 since can track back to individual students. Disadvantages: Subjective where they
 rely on teachers' evaluations of individual students' SEN. Can be burdensome.
 Perverse incentive to put students in higher need brackets.
- Free School Meals (FSM): Common means of assessing need, social attributes
 of students. Advantages: Arguably robust indicator of social disadvantage and
 correlates with poor achievement. Objective, relying on standard criteria. Easily
 administered. Disadvantages: Parents may not apply for FSM, does not differentiate
 between needs of individual schools. Small schools may receive little and additional
 arrangements may be required for students with complex needs.

References

- ¹ Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2008) *School boards school councils: pointers for development*. Paris: OECD.
- ² Hanson, E.M. (2006) 'Strategies of educational decentralisation: key questions and core issues'. In C. Bjork (ed.) *Educational decentralization: Asian experiences and conceptual contributions*. Dordrecht: Springer, 9–26.
- ³ Naidoo, J. (2002) 'Educational decentralization in Sub-Saharan Africa espoused theories and theories in use.' Paper presented at the 46th Annual Meeting of the Comparative and International Education Society, Orlando, Florida.
- ⁴ Gamage, D.T. and Zajda, J. (2009) 'Decentralisation and school-based governance'. In J. Zajda and D.T. Gamage (eds) *Decentralisation, school-based management and quality*. Dordrecht: Springer, 3–22.
- ⁵ Yat Wai Lo, W. (2009) 'Educational decentralization and its implications for governance: explaining the differences in four Asian newly industrialised economies', *COMPARE: a journal of comparative and international education*, Vol. 40, 1, 63–78.
- ⁶ Fukuyama, F. (2005) *State building: governance and world order in the twenty-first century*. London: Profile Books.
- ⁷ World Bank (2010a) *Transforming Indonesia's teaching force, Vol 1*. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- ⁸ Raczynski, D. and Munoz-Stuardo, G. (2007) 'Chilean educational reform: the intricate balance between a macro and a micro policy'. In G.W. Noblit and W.T. Pink (eds) *International handbook of urban education*. Part 1. Dordrecht: Springer, 641–664.
- ⁹ Van Langen, A. and Dekkers, H. (2001) 'Decentralization and combating educational exclusion', *Comparative education*, 37, 3, 367–384.
- 10 Yat Wai Lo, op. cit.;
 - Amirrachman, A., Syafi'i, S. and Welch, A. (2009) 'Decentralising Indonesian education: the promise and the price' In J. Zajda and D.T. Gamage (eds) *Decentralisation, school-based management and quality*, 141-158;
 - Naidoo, op. cit.;
 - Raczynski and Munoz-Stuardo, op. cit.
- ¹¹ Gamage and Zajda, op. cit.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2010) Strong performers and successful reformers in education: lessons from PISA for the United States. Paris: OECD [online]. Available: http://www.oecd.org/pisa/46623978.pdf [30 August 2013].
- ¹³ INCA, Canada: http://www.nfer.ac.uk/what-we-do/information-and-reviews/inca.cfm
 [14 August 2013]; UNESCO International Bureau of Education (2006a) World data on education, 6th edition 2006/07: Canada. Geneva: UNESCO [online]. Available: http://ddp-ext.worldbank.org/EdStats/CANwde07.pdf [7 November 2011].

- ¹⁴ UNESCO International Bureau of Education (2006b) World data on education, 6th edition, 2006/07, New Zealand. Geneva: UNESCO [online]. Available: http://www.ibe.unesco.org/fileadmin/user_upload/archive/Countries/WDE/2006/ASIA_and_the_PACIFIC/New_Zealand/New_Zealand.pdf [7 November 2011].
- ¹⁵ UNESCO (2006b), *ibid*.
- New Zealand Ministry of Education (2007) The New Zealand curriculum for English-medium teaching and learning in years 1–13. Wellington: Learning Media Limited [online]. Available: http://nzcurriculum.tki.org.nz/Media/Files/N-files/N-files/The-New-Zealand-Curriculum-for-Englishmedium-teaching-and-learning-in-years-1-13 [5 December 2011].
- ¹⁷ UNESCO (2006b), op. cit.
- ¹⁸ New Zealand Ministry of Education (2010) National Standards Years 1–8: Maths; Reading and Writing [online]. Available: http://nzcurriculum.tki.org.nz/National-Standards/ [25 November 2013].
- ¹⁹ Eurydice (2010a) *Organisation of the education system in Poland: 2009/10* [online]. Available: http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/thematic_reports_en.php [14 August 2013].
- ²⁰ Naidoo, *op. cit.*; Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity (2008) *Educational access in Ghana: country policy brief.* Brighton, UK: CREATE.
- ²¹ Government of Ghana, Ministry of Education (2009) Education strategic plan 2010-2020.
- ²² Yat Wai Lo, op. cit.
- 23 Yat Wai Lo, op. cit.
- ²⁴ Hong Kong Education Bureau: http://www.edb.gov.hk/index.aspx?nodelD=743&langno=1 [25 November 2013].
- ²⁵ Raihani, R. (2007) 'Education reforms in Indonesia in the twenty-first century', *International education journal*, 8(1), 172–183; Amirrachman et al., *op. cit*.
- ²⁶ World Bank (2000) *Project appraisal document on a proposed loan in the amount of US\$99 million to the Republic of Tunisia for the first phase of the Education Quality Improvement Program (EQUIP) May 30, 2000*: (World Bank Report No 20467-TUN). Washington, DC: The World Bank [online]. Available: http://www-wds.worldbank.org/servlet/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2000/07/07/000094946_00061705502666/Rendered/PDF/multi_page.pdf [25 November 2013].
- ²⁷ Van Langen and Dekkers, op. cit.
- World Bank (2011) Policy brief: Enhancing school-based management in Indonesia [online].
 Available: http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2011/03/28/000333038_20110328011609/Rendered/PDF/604570BRI0Scho10BOX358322B01PUBL IC1.pdf [25 November 2013].
- ²⁹ Van Langen and Dekkers, *op. cit.*; Naidoo, *op. cit.*; Meade, B. and Gershberg, A.I. (2008) 'Making education reform work for the poor: accountability and decentralization in Latin America', *Journal of education policy*, 23, 3, 299–322; World Bank (2010b) *Policy brief: Making BOS effective under decentralization*. Washington, DC: World Bank; Toi, A. (2010) 'An empirical study of the effects of decentralization in Indonesian junior secondary education', *Educational research for policy and practice*, 9, 2,107–125.

- ³⁰ Ontario Education Services Corporation (2010) Good governance: guide for trustees, school boards, directors of education and communities. [online]. Available: http://www.opsba.org/files/GoodGovernance.pdf [25 November 2013]; UNESCO (2006a), op. cit.
- 31 UNESCO (2006a), op. cit.
- 32 INCA, Canada, op. cit.
- ³³ OECD (2010), op. cit.; Ontario Education Services Corporation, op. cit.
- ³⁴ OECD (2010), op. cit.; Ontario Education Services Corporation, op. cit.
- ³⁵ Ontario Ministry of Education (2011) Leadership. [online]. http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/policyfunding/leadership/index.html [25 November 2013].
- ³⁶ OECD (2010), op. cit.; Ontario Education Services Corporation, op. cit.
- ³⁷ Australia DEEWR Strategic Plan 2008–2011.
- ³⁸ Victoria Department of Education and Early Childhood Development (2013) *Our department*. [online]. Available: http://www.education.vic.gov.au/about/default.htm [25 November 2013].
- ³⁹ Gamage and Zajda, op. cit.
- ⁴⁰ Eurydice (2009a) *Organisation of the education system in the Netherlands 2008/09* [online]. Available: http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/thematic_reports_en.php [14 August 2013].
- ⁴¹ Hofman, R.H., Hofman, W.H.A. and Guldemond, H. (2002) 'School governance, culture and student achievement', *International journal of leadership in education: theory and practice*, 5, 3, 249–272.
- 42 Eurydice (2009a), op. cit.
- 43 Eurydice (2009a), op. cit.
- 44 Eurydice (2009a), op. cit.
- 45 Hofman et al., op. cit.
- ⁴⁶ UNESCO (2008a) A compilation of background information about educational legislation, governance, management and financing structures and processes: East Asia and the Pacific. Geneva: UNESCO/IBE.
- ⁴⁷ Ministry of Education, Singapore (2006) 'Quality in education responding to national development priorities', background paper presented at 41st SEAMEO Council conference, policy forum: The role of education in national development.
- ⁴⁸ Mourshed, M., Chijioke, C. and Barber, M. (2010) *How the world's most improved school systems keep getting better*. New York: McKinsey & Company [online]. Available: http://www.mckinsey.com/clientservice/social_sector/our_practices/education/knowledge_highlights/~/media/Reports/SSO/Education_Intro_Standalone_Nov%2026.ashx [16 November 2011].
- ⁴⁹ Ministry of Education, Singapore, op. cit.
- ⁵⁰ Eurydice (2009b) *Organisation of the education system in the Czech Republic 2008/09* [online]. Available: http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/thematic_reports_en.php [14 August 2013].
- ⁵¹ Gamage and Zajda, *op. cit*.
- ⁵² OECD (2010), op. cit.

- ⁵³ Bialecki, I., Johnson, S. and Thorpe, G. (2002) 'Preparing for national monitoring in Poland', *Assessment in education*, 9, 2, 221–236.
- 54 Eurydice (2010a), op. cit.
- ⁵⁵ Eurydice (2010a), op. cit.
- ⁵⁶ Eurydice (2010a), op. cit.
- ⁵⁷ Eurydice (2010b), Structures of education and training systems in Europe: Slovenia 2009/10 edition [online]. Available: http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/thematic_reports_en.php [14 August 2013].
- ⁵⁸ Meade et al., op. cit.
- ⁵⁹ Patrinos, H.A. and Ariasingham, D.L. (1998) *Decentralization of education: demand-side financing*. Washington DC: World Bank.
- 60 Raczynski and Munoz-Stuardo, op. cit.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2007) Improving school leadership: country background report for Chile. Paris: OECD [online]. Available: http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/13/11/39052630.pdf [7 November 2011]; Taut, S., Cortés, F., Sebastian, C. and Preiss, D. (2009) 'Evaluating school and parent reports of the national student achievement testing system (SIMCE) in Chile: access, comprehension, and use', Evaluation and program planning, 32, 2, 129–137.
- 62 OECD (2007), op. cit.
- ⁶³ Hopkins, D. (2006) *Quality assurance and large scale reform: lessons for Chile*. Synthesis report from the international seminar on 'Regulatory models and quality assurance systems', Santiago, Chile, December 2006 [online].
- ⁶⁴ Republic of Tunisia, Ministry of Education (2009) *The development of education: national report 2004-2008*; World Bank (2000), *op. cit*.
- 65 Republic of Tunisia, Ministry of Education, op. cit.
- 66 Naidoo, op. cit.
- ⁶⁷ Wereko, T.B. and Dordunoo, C. (2010) Ghana: effective delivery of public services: focus on education: a discussion paper. Johannesburg: AfriMAP and the Open Society Initiative for West Africa [online]. Available: http://www.afrimap.org/english/images/report/Afrimap%20 Ghana%20DD%20web-ready.pdf [25 November 2013].
- ⁶⁸ UNESCO (2008a), op. cit.; Amirrachman et al., op. cit.; Zajda, J. and Gamage, D.T. (eds) (2009) Decentralisation, school-based management and quality. Dordrecht: Springer; Raihani, op. cit.; World Bank (2011), op. cit.
- ⁶⁹ Amirrachman et al., op. cit.; Zajda and Gamage, op. cit.
- 70 World Bank (2011), op. cit.; Toi, op. cit.
- 71 World Bank (2011), op. cit.
- 72 OECD (2008), op. cit.
- 73 Taut et al., op. cit.
- ⁷⁴ Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2011a) *Equity and quality in education supporting disadvantaged students and schools*. Paris: OECD.

- ⁷⁵ OECD (2010), op. cit.
- ⁷⁶ Amirrachman et al., op. cit.; Zajda and Gamage, op. cit.
- ⁷⁷ Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2011b) *Education at a glance 2011: OECD indicators*. Paris: OECD.
- ⁷⁸ UN Data Centre UNESCO Institute for Statistics.
- ⁷⁹ OECD (2011b), op. cit.
- ⁸⁰ Akyeampong, K. (2010) 50 years of educational progress and challenge in Ghana. CREATE pathways to access. Research monograph no. 33 Brighton, UK: CREATE.
- ⁸¹ Ontario Ministry of Education (2011) Education funding: technical paper 2011-12. [online].
- ⁸² World Bank (2010b), op. cit.; Arze del Granado, J., Fengler, W., Ragatz, A. and Yavuz, E. (2007) *Investing in Indonesia's education: allocation, equity and efficiency of public expenditures*. Jakarta: World Bank.
- ⁸³ Atkinson, M., Lamont, E., Gulliver, C., White, R. and Kinder, K. (2005) *School funding: a review of existing models in European and OECD countries*. Slough: National Foundation for Educational Research and Local Government Association.
- 84 Atkinson et al., ibid.
- ⁸⁵ Eurydice (2010c) Structures of education and training systems in Europe: Czech Republic 2009/10 edition [online]. Available: http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/thematic_reports_en.php [14 August 2013].
- 86 Government of Ghana, Ministry of Education, op. cit.
- 87 Atkinson et al., op. cit.
- 88 Atkinson et al., op. cit.
- 89 Atkinson et al., op. cit.; Ontario Education Services Corporation, op. cit.
- 90 Government of Ghana, Ministry of Education, op. cit.
- 91 Atkinson et al., op. cit.
- 92 Atkinson et al., op. cit.
- 93 Eurydice (2010c), op. cit.
- 94 Eurydice (2010b), op. cit.
- ⁹⁵ Arenas, A. (2004) 'Privatization and vouchers in Columbia and Chile', *International review of education*, 50, 3/4, 379–395.
- ⁹⁶ Lee, V. and Wong, E. (2002) Education voucher system. Hong Kong: Research and Library Services Division Legislative Council Secretariat [online]. Available: http://www.legco.gov.hk/ yr01-02/english/sec/library/0102rp06e.pdf [25 November 2013].
- 97 Arenas, op. cit.
- 98 Ontario Ministry of Education, op. cit.; Ontario Education Services Corporation, op. cit.
- ⁹⁹ Jefferson, A.L. (2010) 'The impact of the economic crisis on elementary and secondary education funding: Ontario', *Management in education* 24, 3, 124–126; UNESCO (2006a), op. cit.

- People for Education (2002) Elementary school tracking report; (2003) Secondary school tracking report. Toronto: People for Education.
- ¹⁰¹ Ontario Ministry of Education, op. cit.
- 102 UNESCO (2006a), op. cit.
- ¹⁰³ Atkinson et al., op. cit.
- ¹⁰⁴ Toi, *op. cit*.
- ¹⁰⁵ Eurydice (2010a), op. cit.
- ¹⁰⁶ Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity (CREATE), op. cit.
- ¹⁰⁷ Akyeampong (2010), op. cit.
- ¹⁰⁸ Government of Ghana, Ministry of Education, op. cit.
- World Bank (2010b), op. cit.; Raihani, op. cit.; UNESCO International Bureau of Education (2008b) Country report: Indonesia. Indonesian public policies on inclusive education.
 Geneva: UNESCO [online]. Available: http://www.ibe.unesco.org/National_Reports/ICE_2008/indonesia_NR08.pdf [7 November 2011].
- 110 Cameron, L.A. (2009) 'Can a public scholarship program successfully reduce school dropouts in a time of economic crisis? Evidence from Indonesia', *Economics of education review*, 28, 3, 308–317.
- 111 Cameron, ibid.
- 112 World Bank (2010b), op. cit.
- ¹¹³ World Bank (2010b), op. cit.; World Bank (2011), op. cit.; Toi, op. cit.
- 114 World Bank (2010b), op. cit.
- ¹¹⁵ Cameron, op. cit.
- ¹¹⁶ Atkinson et al., op. cit.
- ¹¹⁷ Atkinson et al., op. cit.
- 118 Eurydice (2009a), op. cit.
- 119 Yat Wai Lo, op. cit.
- ¹²⁰ Singapore Ministry of Education (2002) *New autonomous school*. [online]. Available: http://www.moe.gov.sg/media/press/2002/pr30072002.htm [25 November 2013].
- ¹²¹ Singapore Ministry of Education (2013) *Secondary education*. [online]. Available: http://www.moe.gov.sg/education/secondary/ [25 November 2013].
- 122 INCA, Canada, op. cit.
- 123 Atkinson et al., op. cit.
- ¹²⁴ Ontario Education Services Corporation, op. cit.
- ¹²⁵ Ontario Education Services Corporation, op. cit.
- ¹²⁶ Ontario Ministry of Education, op. cit.
- ¹²⁷ Government of Ghana, Ministry of Education, op. cit.
- 128 World Bank (2010b), op. cit.
- 129 World Bank (2010b), op. cit.

- 130 UNESCO (2008b), op. cit.
- 131 OECD (2010), op. cit.
- 132 UNESCO (2006a), op. cit.
- Eurydice (2010c) Structures of education and training systems in Europe: Poland 2009/10 edition: [online]. Available: http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/thematic_reports_en.php [14 August 2013]; Eurydice (2010a), op. cit.
- ¹³⁴ Eurydice (2010c), *op. cit.*; Svecova, J. (2000) 'Privatization of education in the Czech Republic', *International journal of educational development*, 20, 2, 127–133.
- 135 Eurydice (2009a), op. cit.
- ¹³⁶ Schütz, G., West, M.R. and Wößmann, L. (2007) School accountability, autonomy, choice, and the equity of student achievement: international evidence from PISA 2003. Education Working Paper No. 14. Paris: OECD [online]. Available: http://www.oecd.org/edu/39839422.pdf [14 August 2013].
- ¹³⁷ Raczynski and Munoz-Stuardo, op. cit.
- 138 Arenas, op. cit.
- 139 Naidoo, op. cit.
- Tooley, J., Dixon, P. and Amuah, I. (2007) 'Private and public schooling in Ghana: a census and comparatives survey', *International review of education*, 53, 4, 389–415; Watkins, K. (2000) *The Oxfam education report*. Oxford: Oxfam in Great Britain; Rose, P. (2002) 'Is the non-state education sector serving the needs of the poor? Evidence from East and Southern Africa'. Paper prepared for DFID seminar in preparation for 2004 World Development Report;
 - Rose, P. (2003) 'From the Washington to the post-Washington consensus: the influence of international agendas on education policy and practice in Malawi', *Globalisation, societies and education*, 1, 1, 67–86;
 - Chaudhury, N., Hammer, J., Kremer, M., Muralidharan, H. and Halsey Rogers, F. (2004) 'Provider absence in schools and health clinics'. Paper presented at the Northeast Universities Development Consortium Conference, HEC Montreal, 1–3 October 2004; Usman, A.S. and Suryadarma, D. (2004) When teachers are absent: where do they go and what is the impact on students? Indonesia: SMERU Research Institute.
- Akyeampong, K. (2009) 'Public-private partnership in the provision of basic education in Ghana: challenges and choices', COMPARE: a journal of comparative and international education, 39, 2,135–149.
- ¹⁴² Yat Wai Lo, *op. cit.*, citing Davies, L., Harber, C. and Dzimadzi, C. (2003) 'Educational decentralisation in Malawi: a study of process', *COMPARE*, 33, 2, 139–154.
- 143 Naidoo, op. cit.
- 144 Chapman, D. et al. (2002) 'Do communities know best? Testing a premise of educational decentralization: community members' perceptions of their local schools in Ghana', International journal of educational development, 22, 181–189.

CfBT Education Trust is one of the world's leading not-for-profit education companies, providing a range of education services in the UK and internationally. Established over 40 years ago, CfBT has an annual turnover of over £100 million and over 2,000 staff worldwide, all working on projects relating to educational quality.

Our clients include major international organisations such as the World Bank and the European Union, together with government ministries worldwide. Currently we are managing important projects in the UK, Dubai, Abu Dhabi, Oman, Brunei, Cambodia, Laos, Australia, Jamaica and Kenya. We have a particular expertise in the evaluation of school quality. In England we manage school inspections for the whole of the northern region of the country on behalf of the national inspection agency, Ofsted. Our work for clients also involves teacher and leadership training, curriculum design, careers guidance for young people and support for school improvement.

As a not-for-profit company CfBT uses its trading surplus to fund a programme of public research.

Visit www.cfbt.com for more information.

High-performing and improving education systems

In line with its commitment to providing evidence-based and practical support for international education system reforms, in February 2009 CfBT Education Trust commissioned research identifying the critical components of high-performing and improving education systems. The research focuses on: teachers; the curriculum and assessment; quality assurance and accountability; school leadership; and school systems, structures and funding. It examines policy documents, material relating to implementation and academic literature. The challenge was to bring together robust, independently verified evidence and practical knowledge of what is done in effective education systems in an authoritative yet accessible review format.

Systems were selected early in 2010. The process took account of PISA 2000 and 2006 reading scores; PISA 2003 and 2006 mathematics scores; and TIMSS 1995, 1999, 2003 and 2007 (where available) results for mathematics and science for students aged 9-10 and 13-14.



ISBN: 978-1-909437-32-6